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Five Year Financial Highlights

(LU IC 2 R) (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
$’°000 $'000 $’000 $'000 $'000

g Results of Operations
e A Revenue 177,852 238,435 214,129 211,489 216,181
E A Gross profit 117,464 166,962 143,840 134,468 136,178
FFI % Gross profit margin 66.0% 70.0% 67.2% 63.6% 63.0%
mEmFA EHE) Gain/(loss) from operations 441 (2,309) (21,664) (15,389)  (6,960)
LEwA S ER) % Operating margin 0.2% 1.0%  -10.1% -7.3% -3.2%
VG E 2 WA Impairment losses on intangible
assets (5,000) - - - -

&Y ¥ (Bs1H) ~ Valuation (losses)/gains on

It investment properties (17,450) - 9,259 6,405 3,178
HE R EY FE I 5 Gain on disposal of investment

properties - - - 13,336 -

Gl AL € Gain/(loss) on deregistration of

(1) subsidiaries 1,917 9 (334) 3,928 -
AN FIHE 25 1 R ME A (Loss)/profit attributable to equity

(Fi48) itk F shareholders of the Company (23,650) (5,121) (13,771) 3,284 (11,740
F (518) A =R Net (loss)/profit margin -13.3% 21% -6.4% 1.6% -5.4%
B (E518) B M — A& (Loss)/earnings per share — basic ($0.14) ($0.03)  ($0.08) $0.02 ($0.07)
B 1B R S Interim dividend per share - - - $0.10 -
g R B Final dividend per share $0.10 $0.10 $0.10 $0.05 $0.10
RS R Dividend payout -71.4% -333.3% -125.0% 750.0% -142.9%
B BRI Financial Position
mEEWEL S Cash generated from/(used in)

() 284 operations 36,407 40,830 38,938 (3,828) 28,461
4 IRATH (7 8R1T  Cash and bank deposits less

%5 5L bank overdrafts 93,673 103,397 118,116 125,739 133,559
i B A Net current assets 99,159 103,611 131,160 160,013 139,090
R Total assets 505,776 571,613 584,127 608,928 690,662
A Total liabilities 87,279 113,200 106,510 101,258 131,734
B R HE A Shareholders’ equity 413,157 452,208 470,424 498,998 538,886
HEE 7 ] iR Return on total assets -4.7% -0.9% -2.4% 0.5% -1.7%
Ji SROHE £ ] g 2R Return on shareholders’ equity -5.7% -1.1% -2.9% 0.7% -2.2%
W R (f) Current ratio (times) 2.6 2.3 2.9 3.3 2.4
HEARARELE Gearing ratio 0.108 0.144 0.134 0.126 0.153
7 45 i 4 B 1y Number of shares

BH (T8 outstanding ('000) 165,864 165,864 165,864 165,864 165,864
AT Market capitalisation 139,326 182,450 185,768 298,555 427,929
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Chairman’s Statement
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Group Results

Despite initial optimism for a recovery in the Hong Kong consumer
market, the anticipated rebound has not materialised. Instead, the
market experienced another slowdown, presenting further challenges for
businesses in the region.

The Group has taken decisive steps to address these difficulties,
including the termination of its loss-making retail operations in Mainland
China. This strategic move allows the Group to focus solely on its Hong
Kong retail operations. Additionally, significant cost-cutting measures
have been implemented, resulting in a notable reduction in operational
losses.

For the current year, the Group reported a loss. However, it is important
to note that this figure is primarily attributed to non-cash write-down
provisions related to asset valuations. These accounting adjustments do
not involve any cash flow impacts.

Notwithstanding these challenges, the Group maintains a strong financial
position with no outstanding borrowings. This stability provides a solid
foundation for navigating the current market conditions and pursuing
future growth opportunities. The Group remains committed to adapting
to the evolving market landscape and delivering long-term value to its
stakeholders.

Ashworth

Our Hong Kong retail operations have experienced a noticeable
slowdown in sales. This shift in market dynamics has prompted the
Group to adopt a more cautious approach in managing its retail footprint.
A key focus has been placed on negotiating shop leases strategically to
ensure that each location contributes effectively to covering the Group
overheads.

Guy Laroche

Our esteemed French heritage label has maintained satisfactory
performance this year. While the current year’s profit reflects a slight
decline compared to the previous year, this outcome is primarily
attributed to increased investment in promotional activities. These efforts
are part of our strategic focus on enhancing brand visibility and long-
term growth.

J.Lindeberg

The Group serves as the official distributor of this brand in both Hong
Kong and Macau. We are pleased to report that this operation has made
a positive contribution to the Group’s overall overheads, reflecting its
successful performance and alignment with our strategic objectives.

Printing

In spite of the increasing shift towards a paperless environment and the
advancements of the digital age, we are pleased to announce that this
subsidiary has successfully returned to profitability, driven by effective
management strategies. The printing operations are conducted within
a facility owned by the Group, for which internal rent is duly paid. This
demonstrates not only a commitment to operational efficiency but also
an ability to adapt and thrive in a challenging market landscape.

4 #t 2024/25 Annual Report
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Chairman’s Statement

Property

Our United Kingdom property is currently fully occupied, and we are in
the process of negotiating an upward rent adjustment as part of a lease
renewal. We are committed to maintaining positive tenant relationships
while ensuring the terms of the lease are beneficial and sustainable for all
parties involved.

Outlook

Given the weak consumer market in Hong Kong, the Group must
carefully reassess its current strategies and market positions to ensure
sustainable growth. A thorough evaluation of operations and resource
allocation is essential to adapt to the changing economic landscape.
Despite these challenges, our strong financial standing provides an
opportunity to explore potential avenues for diversification and expansion
into new business sectors.

Appreciation

Looking ahead, notwithstanding the obstacles encountered over the
past year, | remain optimistic about the future. | would like to take
this opportunity to express my sincere appreciation to our dedicated
team members and trusted partners for their unwavering support and
commitment.

Chan Wing Sun, Samuel

Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 June 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FTERBAKFE Key Performance Indicators
2025 2024 +/(-)
wiLT K W IT T J6 5% 8
HK$’000 HK$’000 change
BB Performance Indicators
A Revenue 177,852 238,435 -25.4%
EH| Gross profit 117,464 166,962 -29.6%
SEY [ Gross profit margin 66.0% 70.0% -4.0 pp
g A (s H) Gain/(loss) from operations 441 (2,309) -119.1%
mEw A (R % Operating margin 0.2% -1.0% +1.2 pp
AN M 75 SRR A s 18 Loss attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company (23,650) (5,121) 361.8%
13 5 1H 2 Net loss margin -13.3% -2.1% -11.2 pp
MERFLE - BLIH - I8 K& EBITDA
Ui Y A (R AR A L A 29,716 35,141 -15.4%
EBITDA®R EBITDA margin 16.7% 14.7% +2.0 pp
A P ] R Return on total assets -4.7% -0.9% -3.8 pp
B0 7501 Ot A B Financial Health Indicators
B 4 K ERAT &5 A7 R Cash and bank deposits less bank
B|ATB X overdrafts 93,673 103,397 -9.4%
it B R Net current assets 99,159 103,611 -4.3%
M Total assets 505,776 571,613 -11.5%
MAaME Total liabilities 87,279 113,200 -22.9%
R RE 25 Shareholders’ equity 413,157 452,208 -8.6%
Ji BROHE i 7] i 2R Return on shareholders’ equity -5.7% -1.1% -4.6 pp
WER (f) Current ratio (times) 2.6 2.3 13.0%
EAAMELE Gearing ratio 0.108 0.144 -25.0%
JBe 3 1ol % Hi3 B2 Shareholders’ Return Indicators
B R 1H — HE AR Loss per share — basic ($0.14) ($0.03) 366.7%
g e S Dividend per share $0.10 $0.10 -
IR B R Dividend payout -71.4% -333.3% +261.9 pp
BAeW R aEAR Cash Flow and Capital Expenditure
MEEBELEZHE Cash generated from operations 36,407 40,830 -10.8%
AR - Brfi R E LA Capital expenditure — other than
right-of-use assets 1,724 1,656 4.1%

e WUE Ry

ZMT G BR BT B MR R, AEE
RAEFEUMHRAZH N EEHE - s b
R #25.4%%177,852,000% ¢ (& Y
4F : 238,435,000 J6) o B AR T 29.6% F
117,464,000 70 (—.%F — P 4F : 166,962,000
WIr) o fE SLZEARY T AR R B B AR R B A
BN RS R > [R] U AS 4 [ 06 B VR A OR IS4 it
DA R S 7 T ) S8 995 B 45 NI A ) oK A R o

Results of the Group’s Operations

The Group’s financial results for the year demonstrate a downward
trend influenced by challenging market conditions and an economic
slowdown. Revenue declined by 25.4% compared to the previous year,
amounting to HK$177,852,000 (2024: HK$238,435,000). Similarly, gross
profit experienced a reduction of 29.6%, reaching HK$117,464,000
(2024: HK$166,962,000). These results highlight the impact of external
factors on the Group’s performance, necessitating a focus on strategic
measures to navigate the current economic environment and drive future
growth.

4 #t 2024/25 Annual Report
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Due to a 26.9% reduction in total operating expenses, which amounted
to HK$126,560,000 (2024: HK$173,078,000), the Group had resulted
in a gain from operations of HK$441,000 (2024: loss from operations
of HK$2,309,000). United Kingdom property experienced a valuation
loss of HK$17,450,000 due to a downturn in the property market.
Additionally, an impairment loss on the trademark was recorded,
reflecting the impact of a decline in the global consumer market.
Consequently, the loss attributable to the equity shareholders of the
Company for the year rose to HK$23,650,000 (2024: HK$5,121,000).

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group generated cash inflow of
HK$36,407,000 (2024: HK$40,830,000) from operations. Inventories as
at 31 March 2025 was HK$31,816,000 (2024: HK$38,186,000).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had cash and bank deposits of
HK$93,673,000 (2024: HK$103,397,000), representing a decrease of
HK$9,724,000. At 31 March 2025, the Group had trading securities with
fair value of HK$7,955,000 (2024: HK$9,579,000).

During the year, the Group spent approximately HK$1,724,000 (2024:
HK$1,656,000) in additions and replacement of other property, plant
and equipment excluding right-of-use assets.

Group’s Financial Position

The Group financed its operations by internally generated cashflows
and banking facilities provided by its bankers. The Group continues to
maintain a prudent approach in managing its financial requirements.

The Group’s net assets as at 31 March 2025 were HK$418,497,000
(2024: HK$458,413,000). The Group’s gearing ratio at the end of
the year was 0.108 (2024: 0.144) which was calculated based on
total leases liabilities of HK$44,728,000 (2024: HK$65,021,000) and
shareholders’ equity of HK$413,157,000 (2024: HK$452,208,000). As
at 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings (2024: Nil).

Operations Review

Total segment sales of garment was HK$119,017,000 (2024:
HK$182,623,000) and recorded a segment profit of HK$21,113,000
(2024: HK$25,663,000). As at the end of March 2025, the Group has
a distribution network of 35 points of sales (“POSs”) in the Group’s
operating market comprising 28 POSs in Hong Kong, 5 POSs in Macau
and 2 POSs in Taiwan. There is a net decrease of 57 POSs in total POSs
from the end of March 2024. The Group will remain prudent with regard
to size of the store network.

The Group owns the global intellectual property rights of Guy Laroche
and Ashworth. Total income of licensing of trademarks from external
customers was HK$21,739,000 (2024: HK$19,861,000) and this
segment recorded a segment profit for the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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As at 31 March 2025, the Group held an office premise for rental in
London with a fair value of HK$175,228,000 (2024: HK$189,023,000)
and an industrial building held for own use in Hong Kong with a net
book value of HK$5,563,000 (2024: HK$5,842,000). Currently, the
said industrial building is wholly occupied by security printing section.
The office premise in London was fully let during the year and, thus,
total rental income from outsiders increased to HK$9,634,000 (2024
HK$8,867,000).

Security printing section recorded increases in sales to HK$27,462,000
(2024: HK$27,084,000) and segment profit HK$1,464,000 (2024:
HK$68,000).

Outlook

The global market is currently navigating a highly challenging and
uncertain environment. Geopolitical tensions in Europe and the Middle
East, coupled with fluctuating interest rates in the United States and
ongoing trade conflicts, have created a complex economic landscape
for businesses worldwide.

In Hong Kong, the weak consumer market necessitates a strategic
reassessment to ensure sustainable growth. For organizations like ours,
this involves a comprehensive evaluation of current operations and
resource allocation to adapt effectively to evolving market conditions.
Agility and proactive decision-making are critical in maintaining
competitiveness during these uncertain times.

Despite these challenges, our robust financial position provides a solid
foundation to explore new opportunities. Diversification and expansion
into emerging business sectors could serve as key drivers of future
growth. By leveraging our strengths and remaining adaptable, the Group
aim to navigate this volatile environment while positioning ourselves for
long-term success.

Law and Regulations

Law and regulations in relation to workplace quality, product safety and
environmental performance may have a material effect on the Group’s
principal activities.

Workplace Quality

The Group believes that continued business success relies on the
full contribution and support of our employees. We are dedicated
to promoting equal opportunities for all of our employees in different
areas, including recruitment, compensation and benefits, training, staff
promotion, transfer, and dismissal. All employees are assessed based
on their ability, performance and contribution, irrespective of their
nationality, race, religion, gender, age or family status.

The Group is committed to the health, safety and welfare of our
employees. We pledge full compliance in all occupational health and
safety legislations and we have implemented an effective and safe
working environment for our employees.

We complied with labour or other relevant legislations. We did not

identify any material non-compliance or breach of legislation related to
workplace quality.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Product Safety

The Group places the highest importance on the welfare of its customers
globally, as well as on its broader societal and environmental impact.
The quality and safety of our products is a vital part of this.

All products are safe and fully adhere to international environmental and
safety standards. We did not identify any material non-compliance or
breach of legislation related to product safety.

Environmental Performance

The Group is committed to protecting and sustaining the environment
through reduced consumption of electrical power.

We are committed to upholding high environmental standards to fulfill
relevant requirements under applicable laws or ordinances during the
manufacturing and material disposal processes.

We did not identify any material non-compliance or breach of relevant
standards, rules and regulations on air and greenhouse gas emission,
discharges into water and land, generation of hazardous or non-
hazardous water, etc..

Social Performance

The Group has long been committed to being a responsible corporate
citizen and actively supports various charitable organisations and causes.
We encourage staff to join our “YGM Volunteer Team” and participated
in various charitable activities to help people in need, demonstrating its
corporate social responsibility and promoting the caring culture in the
society.

Environment, Social and Governance Report

An Environment, Social and Governance Report will be published
on the website of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and
the Company’s website at the same time as the publication of the
Company’s Annual Report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Risks and uncertainties can affect the Group’s businesses, financial
conditions, operational results or growth prospects leading to a
divergence from expected or historical results. Key risk factors and
uncertainties affecting the Group are outlined below. In dealing with
these risk factors and uncertainties, the Group remains in touch with
our stakeholders with the aim of understanding and addressing their
concerns.

These factors are not exhaustive or comprehensive, and there may be
other risks in addition to those shown below which are not known to the
Group or which may not be material now but could become material in
the future.
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Global Economy and Macro-economic Conditions

The global economy, a complex balance of interlinked forces, has
achieved growth stability despite geopolitical tensions and fluctuating
interest rates. This stability is a notable achievement following years of
volatility. Future predictions indicate a slight uptick, driven by cautious
expansions in trade and investment. However, growth in both developed
and emerging economies is expected to be slower than the pre-
pandemic decade. The global economy is not without risks, including
the potential for trade fragmentation due to increased uncertainty and
trade-distorting policies. Policymakers are vigilant in their monetary
policy approach, aiming to effectively navigate these challenges.

The People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) continues to be a central figure
in the global economic stage. Its rapid industrialization, advancements
in technology, and robust trade networks have solidified its position as
a major force. However, it faces challenges such as managing debt
levels, addressing environmental issues, and dealing with geopolitical
tensions. The economic path of the PRC is under the watchful eyes of
international markets and policymakers.

Hong Kong’s economy has recently exhibited moderate growth. In
the first quarter of the current year, the growth was primarily driven
by the continued export of services. Additionally, there was a further
improvement in the total exports of goods. At the same time, private
consumption and overall investment expenditures saw a slight increase.

In conclusion, the global economy, with its intricate network of
interconnected forces, continues to evolve amidst a myriad of challenges
and opportunities. The PRC, with its significant influence, and Hong
Kong, with its moderate growth, are key components of this dynamic
landscape. As we progress, it will be intriguing to see how these
economies navigate their unique challenges and contribute to the global
economic narrative. Their resilience and adaptability will undoubtedly
influence the future direction of the world economy.

Currency Markets

The Group’s currency exposure mainly arises from its investments
outside Hong Kong. The results of the Group are recorded in Hong Kong
dollars, however its subsidiaries outside Hong Kong receive revenue and
incur expenses in other currencies. Any currency fluctuations that occur
during the progress of translation of the results of these subsidiaries or
during the repatriation of earnings, equity investments and loans may
have an impact on the Group’s results.

Impact of Local, National and International Regulations

Local business risks specific to individual countries and cities where the
Group operates could have a material impact on its financing conditions,
operating results and growth prospects.

The Group is, and may increasingly become, exposed to different and
changing political, social, legal, tax, regulatory and listing requirements
at the local, national and international level. New policies or measures
by governments, whether fiscal, tax or regulatory, may pose a risk to the
returns delivered by the Group’s business and may delay or prevent the
commercial operational of an individual business, with a resulting loss in
revenue and profit.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group has taken a proactive approach to monitoring changes in
government policies and legislation. Adequate risk mitigation measures
are in place and are constantly reviewed for enhancement.

Employment and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had approximately 200 employees
(31 March 2024: 320 employees). The Group offers competitive
remuneration packages including medical subsidies and retirement
scheme contribution to its employees in compensation for their
contribution. In addition, discretionary bonuses may also be granted
to the eligible employees based on the Group’s and individuals’
performances.

Relationship with Suppliers

Fair and Open Competition

The Group promotes fair and open competition that aims to develop
long-term relationships with suppliers based on mutual trust.

Public Interest and Accountability

The procurement from suppliers or services providers is conducted in a
manner consistent with the highest ethical standards. This helps assure
high quality products at all times to gain the confidence of customers,
suppliers and the public.

Procurement Procedures

The subcontracting and the purchase of goods are based solely on
need, quality and price. This ensures compliance with procurement
policies and fosters positive and open competition.

Relationship with Customers

Customer Services

The Group seeks to provide efficient and courteous customer service
to maintain customer satisfaction and co-operation. Customers
have access to information about the operation and development
of the Group through annual reports. The Group shall not make any
misrepresentation, exaggeration or overstatement.

Pricing Policies

The Group believes in the economic system of the free market, in which
price is determined by supply and demand. The Group also seeks to
provide customers with the highest quality products at fair prices which
allow the Group a reasonable profit in relation to the value provided.

Important Event After the End of The Reporting
Period

There is no important event affecting the Group which has occurred
since the end of the reporting period.

4 ¥ 2024/25 Annual Report

10



11

EXEGWME

Corporate Governance Report

AAREFG ((HEG]) SN EKFZA
EEIR EFGRE BV MEMBY =1
Ji 3 DR B AR 2 ] 22 A A B T IR 2 (B (E

REE_FRF=H=1—HILMEFER
AN ) B PR AR o I 5 5 B A R A (I 52
B 1) w8 Z AR (B A A L) B RGP
Z A AR T D (T3 AI1D) 28 B~ Bl G ST
&

e

G O DR AN O W] R R A A
VEE 8 FAED SIS o - R /AR D
J& 2 W) (AR [ A SR B ) AT 57 BB A B SR Ty
]~ B MRS A R MR
PP SR 2 LA AR T Mo A - ORI
Bk HT oM 285~ EHRAL KT -
ERE X KA JE b E
BABS R A 6 - &t L R RR B - g R IR
AL EEBLE B EA LN E H W EE S WA E
HEATERGZRR LR - b EEe
A THEETRELZLZEG FMEZEE -
RAZAGLAREMEZ AT -

AR _HFE A= B EROAEESA
PATERF R =AW ERITES - FEF TN
B 2 1 JBE R bl % 2 T80 BRAR A A AN AR R T
HIEMN B — i o AN R B S IEHAT
45 AN AR AT B AT A Y o

A T R BROK B e AR A RAT B S
MRIESC/E o AR a) # 3G £ W AT BUR R
AR5 25 H A BRI BT [ o R
B R B T E A SR e b R R S A
THCB A A T AW EH R RAT - £
GG A S W E T > SRR
PRAE T S A M 2 405 -

A 2 R R A HE S L R B R A SRR TR
HEYEERERE - HHF GO RS R
AN EAT o] HE SR S BLED K R AR A A T
EHG > MEFGHAFR S > LR
BEAR o TERZAEH T

- NZEHRAA=ALBIENTEF A
NAAF A BR300 M EH R > RAT
BOZABIFRTESRE S EHA SR
R T O AR > BRI 0 R R
FHBR B 55 8 AR - AR RIS E S -
A3 A0AR 2 HiE » HEFEFED =
BB AT ES

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is dedicated to
uphold a high corporate governance standard. The Board firmly believes
that the principles of transparency, accountability and independence are
essential for protecting the interests of the Company and maximising
shareholder value.

The Company has complied with the code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) set out in Appendix C1 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) throughout the
financial year ended 31 March 2025.

Board of Directors

The Board is committed to act in good faith in the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders. The Board sets overall objectives and
strategic directions of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
“the Group”), monitors and evaluates its operating and financial
performance. It also decides on matters relating to annual and interim
results, audited financial statements, notifiable transactions, appointment
and re-appointment of directors, major acquisitions and disposals,
material contracts, risk management, major financings and borrowings,
accounting and dividends policies. The Board delegates day-to-day
operations of the Company to the management of the Group and
also instructs the management to implement the Board’s decisions
and resolutions. In addition, the Board has also delegated various
responsibilities to the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee,
the Nomination Committee and the Risk Management Committee.

As at 31 March 2025, the Board comprises five executive directors and
three independent non-executive directors. The biographical details of
and the relationships among the members of the Board are set out in
the “Directors and Management” contained in this Annual Report. The
independent non-executive directors of the Company are not appointed
for specific terms.

The Chairman of the Board is Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company is Mr. Fu Sing Yam, William. The
roles of the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company are separated, with a clear division of responsibilities. The
Chairman of the Board is responsible for formulating corporate strategies
and overall business development planning. The Chief Executive Officer’'s
duty is to oversee the execution of daily business activities. The division
of responsibilities at the Board level is to ensure a balance of power and
authority.

The Company recognises that Board independence is important to
good corporate governance and Board effectiveness. The Company
has established mechanisms to ensure independent views and input are
available to the Board, and such mechanisms are viewed annually by the
Board, so as to ensure their effectiveness. Under the mechanisms:

—  Three out of the eight directors are independent non-executive
directors. The Company has met the requirements under Rule
3.10 of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive directors, one of whom has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The Company has also complied
with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules which requires the number of
independent non-executive directors representing at least one-third
of the board.
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Corporate Governance Report

—  Each independent non-executive director has given the Company
an annual confirmation of his independence. The Nomination
Committee has assessed the independence of the independent
non-executive directors. The Board considers all the independent
non-executive directors to be independent.

— Adirector (including independent non-executive director) who has
a material interest in a contract or arrangement shall not vote or
be counted in the quorum on any Board resolution approving the
same.

- In assessing suitability of the director candidates, the Board
will consider their profiles, including their character, experience,
qualifications and time commitment; the Board will also consider
to the Board’s overall composition and skill matrix as well as the
Company’s diversity policy.

—  The Board will review each director’s time commitment to the
Company’s business annually.

—  The Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Risk Management Committee
are authorised by the Board to obtain outside legal or other
independent professional advice as necessary to assist the
respective committee.

—  The quality of deliberations at meetings of the Board are reviewed
during the annual evaluation of the Board’s performance.

Meetings and Attendance

The attendance of each directors at the Board meetings, the meetings
of the Board Committees (the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk Management
Committee) and the 2024 annual general meeting held during the year
under review is set out in the table below:

JA B A 21

#HE KHZHE  AMZHE  RAZHE ZHE BRX &
Risk

Audit  Remuneration Nomination Management General

Board Committee Committee Committee Committee ~ Meeting

HirH Executive Directors

Bk £ Chan Wing Sun, Samuel

JEBR B Chan Suk Ling, Shirley

fRKE Fu Sing Yam, Wiliam

Pk 2 Chan Wing Fui, Peter

Bk Chan Wing Kee

W AH#{F#E  Independent Non-executive Directors
Bk Choi Ting Ki

30 So Stephen Hon Cheung

&SIl Li Guangming

4/4 N/A 11 11 11 11
4/4 N/A N/A N/A 11 11
4/4 N/A N/A N/A 11 11
4/4 N/A 11 11 N/A 11
4/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A 11
4/4 3/3 il 11 N/A 11
2/4 3/3 11 11 N/A 11
4/4 3/3 11 11 N/A 11
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The 2024 Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) was held on 27 September
2023. The directors’ attendance to the general meeting is listed out
as above. All the directors, including the Chairman of the Board, the
Chairman of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee,
Nomination Committee and Risk Management Committee and the
external auditor of the Company, attended the AGM to answer questions
raised by shareholders. Proceedings of annual general meeting are
reviewed from time to time to ensure that the Company follows good
corporate governance practices. Voting results were posted on the
Company’s and the Stock Exchange’s websites on the day of the AGM.

During the year under review, the Chairman of the Board had a meeting
with the independent non-executive directors without the presence of
executive directors.

Board Committees

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk Management
Committee, each with mandate to oversee particular aspects of the
affairs of the Company. Each of these four Board committees is set up
with written terms of reference. The Board Committees are provided
with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstance at the
expenses of the Company.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written terms of
reference. As at 31 March 2025, the Audit Committee comprises three
independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Choi Ting Ki, Mr. So
Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li Guangming. It is chaired by Mr. So
Stephen Hon Cheung.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for monitoring the integrity
of the Company’s financial statements, reviewing the Company’s
internal control system and its execution through the review of the work
undertaken by the internal and external auditors, evaluating financial
information and related disclosure, reviewing connected transactions and
considering the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function, and
their training programmes and budget.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Audit Committee has, inter
alia, reviewed and discussed with management and the external auditor
the interim and annual results with a view to ensuring that the Group’s
financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. The Audit Committee has
met with external auditor twice a year, in the absence of management,
to discuss any issues arising from the audit and any other matters the
auditor may wish to raise. The Audit Committee has also reviewed the
independence and quality of work of KPMG and has recommended to
the Board to re-appoint KPMG as auditor for the year ending 31 March
2026.

During the year, the Board has not taken any view that is different from
that of the Audit Committee nor rejected any recommendation presented
by the Audit Committee.

Remuneration Committee

As at 31 March 2025, the Committee comprises two executive directors,
namely Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter and Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, and
three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Choi Ting Ki, Mr.
So Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li Guangming. It is chaired by Mr. Li
Guangming.
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The Remuneration Committee is responsible for ensuring formal
and transparent procedures for developing remuneration policies
and in overseeing remuneration packages of the directors. It makes
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration package of
individual executive directors and senior management. It takes into
consideration factors such as salaries and compensation packages paid
by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of
the directors. It would also take into account whether the emoluments
offered are appropriate given the duties and performance of the
respective individuals concerned and whether such emoluments are
competitive and sufficiently attractive to retain such individuals.

Details of the directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

As at 31 March 2025, the Nomination Committee comprises two
executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter and Mr. Chan
Wing Sun, Samuel, and three independent non-executive directors,
namely Mr. Choi Ting Ki, Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung and Mr. Li
Guangming. It is chaired by Mr. Choi Ting Ki.

The roles of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure,
size and composition of the Board, identify individuals suitably qualified
to become members of the Board, and assess the independence of
independent non-executive directors and make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment and re-election of directors and succession
planning for directors, in particular the chairman and the chief
executives. The Nomination Committee will consider the suitability of the
candidate on the basis of his professional qualification, skills, experience
and background.

Board diversity

The Nomination Committee has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which
sets out a policy of considering a number of factors when deciding on
appointments to the Board and the continuation of those appointments,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry
and regional experience.

Measurable objectives have been set to implement the Board Diversity
Policy and selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives as stated in the above. By adopting such criteria, it also
facilitates the Company to develop a pipeline of candidates to the
Board to achieve gender diversity. The ultimate decision will be based
on merit and contribution (considering factors like skills, knowledge and
experience) that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises eight directors,
one of whom is female, and three of whom are independent non-
executive directors and independent of management, thereby promoting
critical review and control of the management process. The Board is also
characterised by significant diversity, whether considered in terms of
professional background, skills and gender. The Nomination Committee
will monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy and review
the policy annually.
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board, via the Nomination
Committee, conducted an annual review of the implementation and
effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and is satisfied that the Board
Diversity Policy has been properly implemented and is effective.

Workforce diversity

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had approximately 200 employees, of
which 25% (50 employees) are males, and 75% (150 employees) are
females.

While we believe our future employee recruitment should predominantly
be merit-based and do not consider it appropriate to set any target
gender ratio for our workforce, we recognise and embrace the benefits
of having a diverse workforce, and will continue to enhance the diversity
of our workforce, subject to availability of suitable candidates.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
which aims at setting out the process for the nomination of a candidate
for the Company’s directorship, in order to facilitate the constitution of
the Board with a balance of skills, knowledge, ability, experience and
diversity of perspectives that is appropriate to the requirements of the
Company.

Based on the Nomination Policy, the Nomination Committee shall
assess, among other things, the following when considering whether
a candidate is suitably qualified to be appointed as a director before
making recommendations to the Board:

e  character and integrity;

e qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity
Policy that are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate
strategy;

° requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate
would be considered independent;

e any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in
terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and gender
diversity; and

e wilingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties
as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of the
Company.

The entire Board is ultimately responsible for the selection and
appointment or recommendation (as the case may be) of candidates
for the Company’s directorship, and accordingly, shall consider the
recommendations from the Nomination Committee and make a decision.
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The nomination procedures to select and recommend candidates for the
Company’s directorship could be summarised as follows:

1. The Nomination Committee should, upon receipt of the proposal
on appointment of new director and the biographical information
(or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship.

2. If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee should rank them by order of preference
based on the needs of the Company and reference check of each
candidate (where applicable).

3. The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the Board
to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship, as applicable.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Nomination Committee
performed the following work:

(i)  reviewing the structure, size, composition (including the skKills,
knowledge and experience) and diversity, and the Board Diversity
Policy;

(i) assessed the independence of independent non-executive
directors:

(i)  made recommendations to the Board on the appointment and re-
appointment of directors; and

(iv) reviewed the Nomination Policy.

Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee comprises three executive directors,
namely Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley and
Mr. Fu Sing Yam, William. It is chaired by Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel.

The purpose of the Committee is to oversee the overall design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and the internal
control systems of the Group and to advise the Board on the Group’s
risk-related matters.

See “Internal Control and Risk Management” below.

Corporate Governance Policy and Duties

The Board is committed to ensure that at good corporate governance
framework and practices are established within the Group. The Board is
responsible for performing the duties on corporate governance functions
as required under code provision A.2.1 of the Code which are set out
below:

(1) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations to the board;

(2) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;
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(8) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(4) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors;
and

(5) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report.

Directors’ Training

According to code provision C.1.1 of the Code, all directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant. The Company should be
responsible for arranging and funding suitable training, placing an
appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of the directors.
The Company provides tailored induction programme to new director
upon his appointment to equip him with the appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Group and to ensure that he is
fully aware of his responsibilities and obligations under the relevant law
and the Listing Rules.

During the year, the Company organised one in-house seminar to
update the Directors on the new amendments to the Code and relevant
Listing Rules. The Company circulates materials relating to the legislative
and regulatory environment to the directors on a regular basis for their
information. The Company also encourages directors to attend relevant
seminars, conferences or forums to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skill. During the year, all directors participated in professional
development in compliance with code provision C.1.1 of the Code.

Directors’ Insurance

During the year, the Company has arranged for the renewal of an
insurance policy on directors’ and officers’ liability to ensure our directors
and senior management are protected from any liability arising from the
performance of their duties.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a Securities Dealing Code regarding
director’s securities transactions on terms no less exacting than required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix C3
of the Listing Rules. All directors have confirmed, upon specific enquiry
by the Company, that they have complied with the required standard set
out in the Model Code and its Securities Dealing Code throughout the
year under review.

Emoluments of Senior Management

The senior management of the Group comprises 4 individuals. Details of
backgrounds and qualifications of each senior management are set out
in the “Directors and Management” contained in this Annual Report.
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, the emoluments of the senior
management of the Group fell within the following bands:
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Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities in respect of
the Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial
statements of the Group and ensure that the financial statements are
prepared in accordance with all relevant statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards.

The statement of external auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities of the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on pages 34 to 41.

Internal Control and Risk Management

The Board has an overall responsibility for the risk management
framework, and for determining the significant risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Company’s objectives. Audit Committee is delegated with
overseeing the effectiveness of internal control and risk management,
while management is responsible for the design, implementation and
monitoring of such systems. The Risk Management Committee is
responsible for coordinating risk management activities, and to report at
least annually to the Board. The Group’s risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Our approach to manage risks involves identification and assessment
of principal risks (including, among others material risks relating to
environment, social and governance (“ESG”)) from the external and
internal environments at different organisation levels. The assessment
considers the changes in nature and extent of significant risks and the
Group’s ability to respond to changes in its business and the external
environment. Action plans have been developed and risk ownership
has been assigned for each key principal risk (including, among others
material risks relating to ESG). The risk owners coordinate the mitigation
measures to ensure proper implementation of these action plans. The
process is closely monitored by the Risk Management Committee.

Taken into consideration the principal risks (including, among others
material risks relating to ESG) and mitigation actions, and based on the
review of the Audit Committee, the Board believes that the Company
has the ability to respond to any such changes in our business and the
external environment, and considers that the Group’s risk management
and internal control system was effective and adequate during the year
under review.
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Regarding the disclosure of inside information, the Board had
implemented procedures and internal controls for handling and
dissemination of inside information so that potential inside information
can be promptly identified and escalated up for deciding whether an
announcement should be made in order to ensure compliance with
the continuous obligations under the Listing Rules and the statutory
obligation to disclose information under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”).

Internal Audit

During the year under review, the Board has engaged an external
consultant to perform internal audit services. The external consultant has
assisted the Group to perform a review of the effectiveness of internal
controls system for certain selected processes. The assessment results
and proposed improvement opportunities were discussed and agreed
with management and were reported to the Audit Committee.

Whistleblowing Policy

In compliance with code provision D.2.3 of the Code, the Board has
adopted a whistleblowing policy. The policy provides formal channel and
procedures to facilitate the raising of matters of concern by employees
of the Group and those parties who deal with the Group (e.g. customers
and suppliers), in confidence and anonymity. The procedures enable the
whistleblower to report the possible improprieties in any matter related
to the Group directly addressed to relevant personnel.

Anti-corruption Policy

In compliance with code provision D.2.4 of the Code, the Board had
adopted an anti-corruption policy. The policy sets out the guidelines to
prevent corruptive practices and raise employees’ awareness regarding
such matter, and sets out the expectations and appropriate procedures
of engaging third parties, and standards relating to anti-bribery and anti-
corruption.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and has day-
to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The Company Secretary
is responsible for advising the Board through the Chairman and/or the
Vice Chairman on governance matters and also facilitates the induction
and professional development of directors. The Company Secretary
also keeps proper records of all Board and Committee meetings. The
biography of the Company Secretary is set out in the “Directors and
Management” contained in this Annual Report. The Company Secretary
has undertaken no less than 15 hours of professional training during the
year.

Auditors’ Remuneration

During the year, total auditors’ remuneration in relation to audit services
for the Group amounted to HK$2,416,000 (2024: HK$2,717,000) of
which a sum of HK$1,490,000 (2024: HK$1,583,000) was paid or
payable to the Group’s principal auditors, KPMG.
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The remunerations paid or payable to the Group’s principal auditor,
KPMG and its affiliated firms, for services rendered in audit and non-
audit were HK$1,494,000 (2024: HK$1,583,000) and HK$247,000
(2024: HK$258,000) respectively. The non-audit services principally
comprise of tax and review services provided to the Group.

Dividend Policy

The Company has established a Dividend Policy which was adopted by
the Board to set out the guidelines for the Board to determine (i) whether
dividends are to be declared and paid; and (i) the level of the dividend to
be paid to the shareholders. It is the policy to allow the shareholders to
participate in the Company’s profits whilst to retain adequate reserves
for future growth.

The Board shall consider the following factors before declaring or
recommending dividends:

(i)  financial results;

(i)  cash flow situation:

(i)  business conditions and strategies;

(iv) future operations and earning;

(v) capital requirements and expenditure plans;

(vi) interests of shareholders;

(vi) any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

(viii) any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends shall remain to be determined
at the sole discretion of the Board and subject to the Articles of
Association of the Company and all applicable laws and regulations.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves the
right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify
the Dividend Policy at any time. The Dividend Policy shall in no way
constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company that dividends
will be paid in any particular amount and/or in no way obligate the
Company to declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.

Communications with Shareholders

The Company regards the annual general meeting as an important
event as it provides an opportunity for direct communications between
its shareholders and the Board. At the Company’s 2024 annual general
meeting, the Chairman of the Board, the Chairman of each of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and
Risk Management Committee as well as and the external auditor were
present to answer questions raised by shareholders.

The Company also maintains a website at www.ygmtrading.com which
enables the shareholders, investors and the general public to have
access to the information of the Company.
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A shareholder communication policy reflecting the current practices
of the Company for communication with its shareholders is available
on the Company’s website. During the year under review, the Board
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the policy including
steps taken at general meetings, the handling of enquiries received
from the shareholders, the dissemination of information in relation to the
Group, and the channels of communications between the Company and
the shareholders. The Board considered that the policy was properly
implemented and effective.

Changes in the Company’s Constitutional Documents

No amendments are made to the Articles of Association of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2025.

Shareholders’ Rights

The Company has only one class of shares. All shares have the same
voting rights and are entitled to the dividend declared. The rights of
the shareholders are set out in, amongst other things, the Articles of
Association of the Company and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(the “Companies Ordinance”).

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting
(((EGM”)

Article 66 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides that an
EGM shall be convened on requisition, as provided by the Companies
Ordinance. According to section 566 of the Companies Ordinance,
the directors of the Company are required call a general meeting
if the Company has received requests to do so from shareholders
representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all shareholders
having a right to vote at general meetings of the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at EGM

Pursuant to section 566 of the Companies Ordinance, the request for
a general meeting must state the general nature of the business to be
dealt with at the meeting and may include the text of a resolution that
may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting.
The request may be sent to the Company in hard copy form at the
registered office of the Company or in electronic form at cs_info@
ygmtrading.com and must be authenticated by the requisitionist(s). The
directors must call a general meeting within 21 days after the date of the
receipt of the requests to do so. The meeting called must be held on a
date not more than 28 days after the date of the notice convening the
meeting.

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquires and concerns to the
Board in writing through the Company Secretary whose contact details
are as follows:

The Company Secretary
YGM Trading Limited
22 Tai Yau Street,

San Po Kong,

Kowloon,

Hong Kong

E-Mail: cs_info@ygmtrading.com
Telephone: (852) 2351 1111
Facsimile: (852) 2351 5211

Shareholders may also make enquires with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.
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Directors’ Report

The directors submit herewith their report together with the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and
the provision of management services. Particulars of the Company’s
principal subsidiaries are set out on pages 112 to 113 of this Annual
Report. Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required
by Schedule 5 to Companies Ordinance, including a discussion of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) and an indication of likely future developments
in the Group’s business, can be found in the Management Discussion
and Analysis set out on pages 5 to 10 of this Annual Report. This
discussion forms part of this director’s report.

Segment Information

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the
operations of the Group during the financial year are set out in note 4 to
the financial statements.

Dividends
The Board had resolved not to declare a payment of interim dividend
(2024 Nil).

The directors recommend to shareholders the payment of a final
dividend of 10 HK cents (2024: 10 HK cents) per ordinary share for the
year ended 31 March 2025 which, if approved by the shareholders at
the forthcoming annual general meeting, is expected to be paid on or
around 22 October 2025.

Share Capital

Details of the movements of the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 22(c) to the financial statements. There were no
movements during the year.

Five Year Financial Highlights

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five fiscal years is set out on page 2.

Properties

Particulars of the major properties and property interests of the Group
are set out in note 11 to the financial statements.

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings

The Group did not have bank loans and other borrowings as at 31
March 2025.

Charitable Donations

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
HK$1,000 (2024: HK$4,000).
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Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, the Group’s sales to its five largest customers and
purchases from its five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of
the Group’s turnover and purchases respectively.

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares) had any interest in
these major customers and suppliers.

Directors

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors

Chan Wing Sun, Samuel
Chan Suk Ling, Shirley
Fu Sing Yam, William
Chan Wing Fui, Peter
Chan Wing Kee

Independent Non-executive Directors
Choi Ting Ki

So Stephen Hon Cheung

Li Guangming

A full list of the names of the directors of the Group’s subsidiaries can be
found in the Company’s website at www.ygmtrading.com under “Investor
Relations/Corporate Governance”.

Pursuant to Article 105 of the Company’s Articles of Association, at each
annual general meeting, one-third of the directors of the Company for
the time being or such higher number of the directors of the Company
to be determined by the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”)
shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every directors of the
Company (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. The Board
decided that three directors, Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley, Mr. Fu Sing
Yam, William and Mr. Choi Ting Ki will retire from the Board by rotation,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

Biographical details of the directors of the Company as at the date of
this report are set out on pages 30 to 32 of this Annual Report. Further
information of the directors standing for re-election proposed to be re-
elected are set out in the circular.

The Company confirms that it has received from each of the independent
non-executive directors a confirmation of their respective independence
and the Company considers the independent non-executive directors to
be independent.

Directors’ interests in Transaction, Arrangement and
Contracts

Apart from the details disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements,
no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which
the Company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.
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Directors’ Service Contract

The independent non-executive directors were appointed by the board
of directors and their remuneration is determined by the board of
directors.

None of the directors who has offered himself for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has entered into
any service contract with the Company or any other member of the
Group which is not determinable by the relevant employer within one
year without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
compensation.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in Shares
and Underlying Shares

The directors and chief executive of the Company who held office at
31 March 2025 had the following interests in the issued shares of the
Company, its subsidiaries and other associated corporations (within the
meaning of the SFO at that date as recorded in the register of directors’
and chief executives’ interests and short positions required to be kept
under section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”):

W H
Number of Ordinary Shares

il A HE 22 KRR Ak HAfbRER

Personal Family Corporate Other

interests interests interests interests
B f B A Beneficial interests
Bk & Chan Wing Sun, Samuel 8,336,962 250,000 8,093,775 (i) & (i)
RIS Chan Suk Ling, Shirley 8,802,608 328,000 - (i) & (i)
e Fu Sing Yam, William 2,075,462 - - (i)
B 7k 2 Chan Wing Fui, Peter 24,345 1,101,000 12,060,109 (i) & (ii)
Pt i AE Chan Wing Kee 9,612,943 1,012,035 - (i) & (ii)

(i)  46,091,700/% 74 2~ ®) K A4 J5 1 Chan Family
Investment Corporation Limited ( H B 7k #t
JetE s Bk SRR R EE S AE - JRIBE IR
¥y A T oAt R R SR B M) B EC
JE AT FTREA -

(i) 120,400/ A& s " B 13 Ty miHearty
Investments Limited®F A ° 5% 2 7 i B 7k
il B PR 5K R 1 B R e B -

(i) 46,091,700 shares of the Company were held by Chan Family
Investment Corporation Limited (which is owned by Messrs Chan
Wing Kee, Chan Wing Sun, Samuel and Fu Sing Yam, William,
Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley and other members of the Chan
family) and its subsidiaries.

(i) 120,400 shares of the Company were held by Hearty Investments
Limited which is indirectly owned by Messrs Chan Wing Kee, Chan
Wing Sun, Samuel and Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley and other
members of the Chan family.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the directors
or their associates had or was deemed to have any interests or short
position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
and its holding company, subsidiaries or other associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO; or as notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix C3 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”). Furthermore, save as disclosed above, at no time
during the year ended 31 March 2025 was the Company or any of its
holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a partly to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company or any of their
spouses or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other
body corporate.

Substantial Shareholder’s Interest

As at 31 March 2025, the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO showed that, other than the interests
disclosed above in respect of the directors, no other interests required
to be recorded in the register kept under section 336 of the SFO have
been notified to the Company.

Save as disclosed herein, the directors are not aware of any person who
was, directly or indirectly, interested or had a short position in the shares
or underlying shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company and the
Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or, was directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or more of
the nominal value of the issued share capital carrying rights to vote in
all circumstances at general meeting of the Company or any options in
respect of such capital as at 31 March 2025.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Shares

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 March 2025.

Connected Transactions

Certain related party transactions as disclosed in note 24(b) to
the consolidated financial statements also constituted connected
transactions under the Listing Rules which are required to be disclosed
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The details of such
connected transactions for the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out
below.

Garment Transactions

On 29 March 2023, the Company entered into an agreement (the
“Garment Master Agreement”) with Yangtzekiang Garment Limited
(“Yangtzekiang”, together with its subsidiaries the “Yangtzekiang
Garment Group”), pursuant to which the Group might from time to time
purchase knitwear and other garment products from Yangtzekiang
Garment Group during the period commencing on 1 April 2023 and
ending on 31 March 2025 (both days inclusive). The purchase price
payable by the Group to Yangtzekiang Garment Group for the garment
products under the Garment Master Agreement shall be payable in cash
within 30 days upon issuance of debit notes.
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The annual cap for purchasing the garment products from the
Yangtzekiang Garment Group for the two financial years ended 31
March 2025 is HK$9,000,000 and HK$9,000,000 respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group’s purchases of garment
products from Yangtzekiang Garment Group amounted to HK$244,000
(2024: HK$767,000).

Licence Arrangement

On 29 March 2023, YGM Marketing Limited (“YGM Marketing”, a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company) entered into a licensing agreement
with Yangtzekiang (the “Licence Agreement”), pursuant to which
Yangtzekiang agreed to allow YGM Marketing to occupy as licensee
the premises of approximately 36,000 square feet of warehouse and
office space situated at 22-24 Tai Yau Street, San Po Kong, Kowloon,
Hong Kong for a term commencing on 1 April 2023 and terminating
on 31 March 2025 (both days inclusive). The licence fees (exclusive
of government rates and rent, building management fee and other
charges) of HK$360,000 per month and the building management fees
of HK$10,800 per month payable by YGM Marketing to Yangtzekiang
under the Licence Agreement shall be paid in cash on a monthly basis
within 30 days upon issuance of debit notes, which shall be issued on a
monthly basis.

The annual licence fee and the annual building management fee payable
by YGM Marketing to Yangtzekiang under the Licence Agreement
shall not exceed the maximum annual cap of HK$4,320,000 and
HK$130,000 respectively, which are calculated with reference to the
maximum area licensable by YGM Marketing from Yangtzekiang under
the Licence Agreement. Under the Listing Rules, the entering into of the
Licence Agreement by YGM Marketing was regarded by the Company
as an one-off acquisition of right-of-use asset of HK$8,600,000.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the licence fee and the building
management fee paid to Yangtzekiang amounted to HK$3,090,000
(2024: HK$4,450,000).

Connected relationship with Yangtzekiang

As certain directors of the Company and their associates are collectively
the controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of
Yangtzekiang and the Company, the above garment transactions and
license arrangement constitute connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Trademark Licensing Arrangement

On 5 February 2024, YGM Retail Limited (“YGM Retail”, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company) entered into an agreement (the “Trademark
License Agreement”) with Citimark Trading Limited (“Citimark Trading”),
pursuant to which YGM Retail grants to Citimark Trading (i) a non-
exclusive and non-transferrable right, license and authority to use the
Ashworth-related trademarks (a) to design and have designed the
licensed products in any part of the world; and (b) to manufacture and
have manufactured the licensed products in Mainland China strictly and
exclusively for such licensed products to be delivered to Citimark Trading
for the purpose of dealings (as defined below) in Mainland China; and (ii)
an exclusive and non-transferable right to promote, market, advertise,
package, distribute and sell the licensed products in the PRC, including
but not limited to the right to sell the licensed products to consumers
online for delivery within Mainland China and Citimark Trading’s own
operated stores within Mainland China for a term commencing on 1
June 2024 and terminating on 31 May 2029.
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Citimark Trading will pay YGM Retail royalty fee (the “Earned Royalty”)
of five percentage (5%) on the first USD10,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$78,000,000) of the net total invoiced revenue, and thereafter at four
percentage (4%) of the net total invoiced revenue beyond and exceeding
the amount of USD10,000,000 (equivalent to HK$78,000,000), of each
agreement year.

A non-refundable minimum royalty (the “Minimum Royalty”) will be
payable by Citimark Trading to YGM Retail (a) USD250,000 (equivalent
HKD1,950,000) for the year ending 31 May 2025 subject to deduction
of marketing allowance up to USD100,000 (equivalent to HKD780,000)
as evidenced by production of documentation(s) as may be required by
YGM Retail; (b) USD300,000 (equivalent to HKD2,340,000) for the year
ending 31 May 2026 subject to deduction of marketing allowance up to
USD50,000 (equivalent to HKD390,000) as evidenced by production of
documentation(s) as may be required by YGM Retail; (c) USD350,000
(equivalent to HKD2,730,000) for the year ending 31 May 2027; (d)
USD400,000 (equivalent to HKD3,120,000) for the year ending 31 May
2028; and (e) USD500,000 (equivalent to HKD3,900,000) for the year
ending 31 May 2029.

If the Earned Royalty for an agreement year exceeds the Minimum
Royalty for such agreement year, Citimark Trading will pay such excess
royalty within sixty (60) days after the conclusion of each applicable
agreement year together with the annual report of Citimark Trading for
the relevant agreement year.

The annual caps for the Earned Royalty under the Trademark License
Agreement for the period from 1 June 2024 to 31 March 2025, the
years ending 31 March 2026, 2027, 2028 and 2029 and the period
between 1 April 2029 to 31 May 2029 are USD300,000 (equivalent
to HK$2,340,000), USD500,000 (equivalent to HKD3,900,000),
USD800,000 (equivalent to HKD6,240,000), and USD1,020,000
(equivalent to HKD7,956,000), USD1,020,000 (equivalent to
HKD7,956,000) and USD340,000 (equivalent to HKD2,652,000)
respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Earned Royalty received by
YGM Retail amounted to HK$975,000.

Consignment Arrangement

On 5 February 2025, YGM Retail (the “Consignor”) entered into an
agreement (the “Consignment Agreement”) with Citimark Trading (the
“Consignee”), pursuant to which the Consignor shall consign certain
goods namely T-shirts and knit-shirts, pants, leather goods and belts,
skirts, vests, body wears and socks, etc. bearing the Ashworth-related
branded products to the Consignee (or such entity as the Consignee
may propose and approved by the Consignor) for sale on behalf of the
Consignor in Mainland China during the period commencing on 1 June
2024 and ending on 31 May 2026.

YGM Retail will debit Citimark Trading in it invoice with the price of the
consignment goods plus cost of packing, including special packing at
Citimark Traidng’s request and the cost of freight and insurance effected
by YGM Retail.
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Directors’ Report

The annual caps for the invoiced amount under the Consignment
Agreement for the period from 1 June 2024 to 31 March 2025, the year
ending 31 March 2026 and the period from 1 April 2026 to 31 May
2026 are USD702,000 (equivalent to HKD, 5,475,600), USD502,000
(equivalent to HKD3,915,600) and USD202,000 (equivalent to
HKD1,575,600) respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, YGM Retail’s sales of consignment
goods to Citimark Trading amounted to HK$3,831,000.

Connected relationship with Citimark Trading

Citimark Trading is owned as to 75% by Mr. Michael Chan and 25%
by Mr. Jason Chan. Mr. Michael Chan is a connected person of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules by virtue of being
a brother of three executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Wing Sun,
Samuel, Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter and Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley.
Mr. Michael Chan is also a cousin of two other executive directors,
namely Mr. Chan Wing Kee and Mr. Fu Sing Yam, Wiliam. Mr. Jason
Chan is a connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules by virtue of being (i) a son of Mr. Michael Chan; and
(i) a nephew of Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, Mr. Chan Wing Fui,
Peter and Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley, and a second cousin of
Mr. Chan Wing Kee and Mr. Fu Sing Yam, William, each an executive
director. Accordingly, the above trademark licensing arrangement and
consignment arrangement constitute connected transactions as defined
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

In the opinion of the independent non-executive directors, these
connected transactions were entered into by the Group:

()  inthe ordinary and usual course of its business;

(i)  conducted either on normal commercial terms (which expression
will be applied by reference to transactions of a similar nature
and to be made by similar entities) or, where there is no available
comparison, on terms that are fair and reasonable so far as the
independent shareholders of the Company are concerned;

(i) in accordance with the terms of the agreements governing the
transactions; and

(iv) in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group, where
applicable.

KPMG, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. KPMG have
issued their unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions
in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed above by
the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Apart from the foregoing, no contract of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of
the Company had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.
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Compliance with the Code of Best Practice

The Company has complied throughout the year with the Code of Best
Practice as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

Audit Committee

The audit committee comprises three independent non-executive
directors and reports to the board of directors. The audit committee
meets with the Group’s senior management and external auditors
regularly to review the effectiveness of the internal control systems and
the annual report of the Group.

Sufficiency Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, as at the date of this report, the
Company has maintained the prescribed public float required under the
Listing Rules.

Auditor

KPMG will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.
A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditor of the Company
is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By Order of the Board
Chan Wing Sun, Samuel

Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 June 2025
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Directors and Management

Directors

Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, aged 77, received a Bachelor’s degree
from the University of Manchester, the United Kingdom in 1970 and
qualified as a Chartered Accountant in 1973. He was the Company
Secretary of Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock code: 00294) from
1974 to 1988 and has been an executive director since 1977. Mr. Chan
was the Managing Director of the Company from 1987 to 2006 and
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company from 2006 to 2010. He was
the Vice Chairman of the board of director of the Company from 2010
and was re-designated as the Chairman of the board of director of the
Company in September 2015. Mr. Chan has been the chairman of the
board of director of Crater Gold Mining Limited, whose shares were
delisted from Australian Securities Exchange with effect from 10 July
2023, since 2013.

Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley, BBS, JP, is the Vice Chairman of the
board of director of the Company. She joined Yangtzekiang Garment
Limited (stock code: 00294) in 1973 and was an executive director
from January 1983 to April 2020 and from March 2021. Madam Chan,
aged 74, has extensive experience of management in the garment
retail and wholesale business. She is a Committee Member of the 3rd-
6th Election Committee of Hong Kong SAR, the Council Member of
the Hong Kong Trade Development Council (“HKTDC”), the Chairman
of Staff & Finance Committee of HKTDC, the Honorary President of
the Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong, the Chairman
Emeritus of Hong Kong Brand Development Council, the Vice President
of the Guangdong Association of Enterprises with Foreign Investment,
a Council Member of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University (“PolyU”),
the Chairman of Advisory Committee on School of Fashion and Textiles
of PolyU and the Supervisor of Yau Yat Chuen School. She received
a Bachelor’s degree from Nottingham Trent University, the United
Kingdom in 1973.

Mr. Fu Sing Yam, William, aged 63, received a Bachelor’s degree
from the University of Western Ontario, Canada in 1984 and joined the
Group in 1985. Mr. Fu has been an Executive Director of the Company
since 1995. He was the Deputy Managing Director of the Company from
2006 to 2010 and was the Managing Director since 2010. Mr. Fu was
re-designated as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company in
September 2015. He has extensive experience in fashion retailing,
wholesaling, marketing and merchandising.

Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter, MA, aged 79, received a Master’s
degree in Administrative Science from Yale University, USA in 1969
and joined Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock code: 00294) in
the same year. He was appointed as the Director and Managing
Director of Yangtzekiang Garment Limited in 1971 and 1980
respectively and Vice Chairman of the board of directors of both
Yangtzekiang Garment Limited and the Company in 1987. Mr. Chan
is at present the Chairman of the board of directors of Yangtzekiang
Garment Limited. He was the Chairman of the board of directors
of the Company from 2010 to 2015. Mr. Chan has been actively
involved in garment manufacturing and marketing in the Far East
and the USA for over 40 years.
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Mr. Chan Wing Kee, GBM, GBS, OBE, JP, aged 78, received
a Bachelor’s degree in Industrial Engineering in 1970 and joined
Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock code: 00294) in 1970 as
Production Manager and later became Sales Manager. Mr. Chan was
appointed as Director of Yangtzekiang Garment Limited in 1977 and
Managing Director in 1987. Mr. Chan has been an Executive Director
of the Company since 1987. He is also an independent non-executive
director of Kingboard Holdings Limited (stock code: 148) Mr. Chan
has participated in many textile negotiations with the USA and Europe
for Hong Kong and Macau. He is a Standing Committee Member of
The 10th, 11th and 12th of The Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference; Deputy of the 8th and 9th National People’s Congress of
China; Ex-member of Commission on Strategic Development of HKSAR,
Ex-member of Economic Council of Macau Special Administrative
Region; Ex-member of the Textile Advisory Board of Hong Kong; Ex-
Committee Member of the Preparatory Committee for Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region and Ex-Advisor of Hong Kong Affairs.

Mr. Choi Ting Ki, aged 70, is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. In 1978, Mr. Choi graduated
from the Department of Accounting of the Hong Kong Polytechnic
(currently known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University). He joined
KPMG in the same year and has held various positions, including partner
of the audit department of KPMG Hong Kong Office, Managing Partner
of KPMG Shanghai Office, Senior Partner of KPMG Huazhen Shanghai
Office as well as Senior Partner of KPMG Huazhen in Eastern and
Western China. Mr. Choi retired from KPMG Huazhen in April 2010. Mr.
Choi has been an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
since December 2012. He is also an independent non-executive director
of Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock code: 00294).

Mr. So Stephen Hon Cheung, aged 69, has been a director of an
accounting firm T.M. Ho So & Leung CPA Limited since August 2003.
Currently, he is the chief financial officer and company secretary of
Ying Kee Tea House Group Limited (Stock code on GEM: 8241) He
has extensive experience in the commercial sector of manufacturing,
wholesale and trading and in public practice working for various
companies in Hong Kong, China and Canada. He holds a bachelor
degree in commerce from the University of British Columbia, Canada.
He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants
of Canada and a member of the Society of Management Accountants
of Canada. Mr. So has been an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company since September 2017. He is also an independent
non-executive director of Yangtzekiang Garment Limited (stock code:
00294), since September 2017, and PINE Technology Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1079) since September 2002, Mr. So was an independent
non-executive director of Milan Station Holdings Limited (stock code:
1150) from May 2011 to February 2017, Teamway International Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1239) from August 2017 to June 2019,
and Pinestone Capital Limited (stock code: 804) from May 2015 to
November 2022.

4 #t 2024/25 Annual Report



WA b+ =5 NSRS
DY+ 4E DL E A B o 2R 4R — LA AE B A
M TAT B M 85 T AR — R A AR N R > R i
— U4 " HBETAT B RRR o 0 A8 85 T
B B g (4 1) A PR ) M BT B N W) ([ 4 45
B B A ) YEAT A TR > Bb Ak > R R
FAE A H O T AT J 2 65 1) W% 475 4% 4 [ A BR 2 )
(LA 40 89 — N 405 4 55 [ A BR N | #A e >
BHAEREREE —E—T4E+ T H 1k - 250
A R G IR S O (BRI K ER) > BT
g N RIEFBEEG T ARNEREGEHBE LS
BER A E - FE+ Z HEIEAR
WNRIZBSLIERATE S - BN AR LR KA R
A (AR SE - 00294) Z ST IEFATE S o

oYy HH LA RN A
EX XX .9 9’840 ki

WK B2 5E AR~ BRK 2R S 2R B R BRI A 2 J L
Ik o

iR S A A K SR S A~ BROK 22 5 A % R B
B 2 b B L o

RIS S A4 b BOK B S 2t~ BOKR & Je 2k - AR
S 2 KBRS A o o

PRASSCRT 4 3 & Oh > S BT T 4 A
2% A R A BN B T 4 IR P SR AT A B
1% -

EFEREMAS

Directors and Management

Mr. Li Guangming, aged 73, has over 40 years’ experience in the
cotton textile industry. He was appointed as deputy chief of No. 1 Cotton
Textile Factory of Wuxi City in July 1984 and chief of factory in February
1991. He has held various positions in Wuxi City Guolian Development
(Group) Company Limited and its subsidiaries. Among other things,
he was appointed as the general manager of Wuxi Guolian Textile
Group Company Limited (now known as Wuxi No.1 Cotton Textile
Group Company Limited) in October 2005, and subsequently served
as the Chairman of its board until December 2014. Mr. Li graduated
from Wuxi Professional University (now known as Jiangnan University)
and was a member of the Standing Committee of Wuxi Municipal
People’s Congress of the People’s Republic of China. Mr. Li has been
an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since January
2018. He is also an independent non-executive director of Yangtzekiang
Garment Limited (stock code: 00294).

Directors’ relationship with other Directors, senior management,
substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company

Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter and Madam
Chan Suk Ling, Shirley are siblings.

Mr. Chan Wing Kee is the cousins of Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel, Mr.
Chan Wing Fui, Peter and Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley.

Mr. Fu Sing Yam, William is the cousin of Mr. Chan Wing Sun, Samuel,
Mr. Chan Wing Fui, Peter, Madam Chan Suk Ling, Shirley and Mr. Chan
Wing Kee.

Save as disclosed herein, the Directors do not have any relationship
with any Directors, senior management, substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company.
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Management

Mr. Kenneth Hung, aged 58, joined the Group in 1992. Director of
Michel René Enterprises Limited. Mr. Hung graduated from the University
of Minnesota in the USA and has extensive experience in the apparel
retailing industry.

Mr. Hendrik H Penndorf, aged 61, joined the Group in 2007 and
was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer (Directeur General) of
Societe Guy Laroche and the Director of GL Europa S.A.. Mr. Penndorf,
trained as a retail trader, received a MBA degree at Hamburg University,
Germany. He worked for 15 years in senior management of a German
department store chain group based in Hamburg, Germany in various
capacities from buying and merchandising of fashion. He was the
general manager of the department store chain group. Before joining
the Group. Mr. Penndorf worked for 2 years as the managing director
of Euro China Group Hong Kong which is a boutique consultancy with
mainly European blue chip clients.

Mr. Kwok Ying Tung, FCPA, FCCA, FCA, ACG, HKACG(PE), aged
62, joined the Group in 2003 and was appointed as the Company
Secretary and Financial Controller of the Company in March 2018. Mr.
Kwok is a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales, a member of The Chartered Governance Institute
and a member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance institute. He
holds a Master’s degree of Corporate Governance and a Master degree
in Business Administration. Mr. Kwok has over 20 years of experience
in fashion garment manufacturing, retail and wholesale in China and has
extensive experience in general administration, accounting and finance
field.

Mr. Ngai Kwai Yung, FCPA, FCPA(Aust.), MBA, aged 67, is the
Managing Director of Hong Kong Security Printing Limited. Mr. Ngai
holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree and a Master degree in Business
Administration. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of CPA Australia.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
YGM Trading Limited

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of YGM Trading
Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out
on pages 42 to 113, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2025, the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and
notes, comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2025 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have
fulfiled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Impairment of intangible assets with indefinite useful lives

Refer to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and accounting policies in note 1(j)(ii).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives amount to HK$128,442,000, which
represent trademarks acquired by the Group in prior
years.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs to which
trademarks were allocated, which are the higher of
the fair value less costs of disposal and their value-in-
use, are estimated annually whether or not there is any
indication of impairment.

In order to determine the recoverable amounts,
management prepared discounted cash flow forecasts
and engaged an external valuer to assess the valuations
of the trademarks. The discounted cashflow forecasts
used to assess the risk of impairment is based on a
number of key assumptions, including estimations of
future revenue, terminal growth rates and the discount
rates applied.

We identified the impairment of intangible assets to be a
key audit matter because the preparation of discounted
cash flow forecasts involves significant management
judgement, which could be subjective.

Our audit procedures to assess whether impairment of
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives included the
following:

e assessing and challenging the Group’s impairment
assessment model, including management’s
identification of the CGUSs;

e comparing the actual results of the CGUs for
the current year with the forecasts adopted by
management in the discounted cash flow forecasts
for the prior year to assess the effectiveness of
management’s forecasting process, making enquiries
of management as to the reasons for any significant
variations identified and considering if there was any
indication of management bias;

e  obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports prepared
by the external valuer engaged by the Group and
assessing the independence, qualifications, expertise
and objectivity of the independent external valuer;
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Impairment of intangible assets with indefinite useful lives

Refer to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and accounting policies in note 1(j)(ii).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

discussing with the external valuer and evaluating
the valuation methodology adopted with reference
to the prevailing accounting standards and
assessing the discount rates, with the assistance
of our internal valuation specialists;

challenging the key assumptions used in the
discounted cash flow forecasts prepared by
management such as future revenue, terminal
growth rates with the historical performance of
the relevant CGUs and other available third-party
information;

performing sensitivity analysis of the discount
rates and terminal growth rates adopted in the
discounted cash flow forecasts prepared by
management and assessing the impact of changes
in the key assumptions to the conclusion reached
in the impairment assessment and considering
whether there were any indicators of management
bias; and

considering the reasonableness of the Group’s
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
in respect of its impairment assessment of the
intangible assets with reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting standards.

SUAT S0 W v 1 47 300 06905 6 0 M) DAL

BTG BRI A 75 1 206 R g B W A 51 ) (i) 2

B it A it 3

FRAY W T J0 o P e

LA (L B ) o I 22 BROR AT & w1 e B T R A A9 A
B8 05 35 B AE AN A AN E S K 1 B > SRS T8
&K

BT GG R A R B BB A AL = YR I T T R
MR > AR AR A F A A KG = 285 4 408 B AR BH 2R 4
FE A B R S 25 AEORD oAt m Y 28 = O EREAT
g

HEAT SO E 7 A DL ST AG A 2 A 4T BB 40 T
T BT R B 37 B AR AN K A G R A 3 A R S AR
A A 538 AL S L W A A5 i 119 B B A A L R
FETEfm REF 5 5 I

FE R AR AR A T R R e A B R T
{E AT AG B9 & B > 36 225 BLAT B wh e I BLE

4 ¥ 2024/25 Annual Report

36



37

J8 7 B BB 3R
Independent Auditor’s Report

Net realisable value of inventories

Refer to note 14 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(k).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

As at 31 March 2025, the inventories of the Group
amounted to HK$31,816,000. Inventories are carried at
the lower of cost and net realisable value (“NRV”) in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Sales of inventories in the fashion industry can be volatile
due to changing fashion trends, consumer demand and
economic conditions.

The changing tastes and patterns of consumption of
customers require the Group to periodically review its
inventory portfolio and dispose of off-season inventories
at a markdown from the original price to maintain the
strength of the brands and make room for new season
inventories in its retail stores.

The Executive Director and senior members of the sales
team review the full inventory list regularly to identify
inventories which may need to be discounted in order
to increase their chances of being sold. Key data used
in this review process includes sales volume history and
ageing patterns of inventories.

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of
inventories included the following:

e assessing whether the inventory provision at the
reporting date was consistent with the Group’s
inventory provisioning policy by recalculating the
inventory provision based on the percentages
of inventory costs and other parameters in the
Group’s inventory provisioning policy;

e assessing, on a sample basis, whether items in the
inventory ageing report were classified within the
appropriate ageing bracket;

e assessing the Group’s inventory provisioning policy
by comparing the amounts of inventories which will
be unsold at the end of the reporting period with
historical sales data for the current and prior years;
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Net realisable value of inventories

Refer to note 14 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 1(k).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

We identified the NRV of inventories as a key audit
matter because significant judgements and assumptions
are involved by management in estimating the amounts
of inventories which will be unsold at the end of each
reporting period and the markdowns necessary to sell
such off-season inventories on a discounted basis
through outlets and other channels in the following
years.

e comparing the carrying amount of the inventories
at the reporting date to their NRV by reviewing the
sales of inventories subsequent to the reporting
date;

e comparing inventory balances by season against
respective balances in prior years and the
movement by season against historical movements
to identify inventories which are relatively slow
moving; and

e enquiring of the Executive Director and senior
members of the sales team about any expected
changes in plans for markdowns or disposals
of off-season inventories and comparing their
representations with actual sales transactions
subsequent to the reporting date.
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Information other than the consolidated financial
statements and auditor’s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on
the group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Cheng Pui Ngar (practicing certificate number:
P05280).

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

25 June 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

HEZFE = H =1 —H I For the year ended 31 March 2025

(L4 75507~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

i 2025 2024

Note $°000 $'000
WA Revenue 3&4 177,852 238,435
BB LA B R A Cost of sales and direct costs (60,388) (71,473)
EBH Gross profit 117,464 166,962
H At i 55 75 #E Other net gain 5 9,537 3,807
I 5 AR Distribution costs (79,695) (118,558)
AT B R HAth 58 425 27 Administrative and other operating expenses (46,865) (54,520)
BEBAN  OFR) Gain/(loss) from operations 441 (2,309)
@S/ EXLEEN X Valuation losses on investment properties 11(a) (17,450) -
M TE B B 2 W (E S 1R Impairment losses on intangible assets 12 (5,000) -
Pl AR Finance costs 6(a) (2,352) (3,722)
1% B2 B 5 41 Loss before taxation 6 (24,361) (6,031)
IREENE 9 D i) Income tax (expense)/credit 7(a) (154) 96
A% 4E % 5 41 Loss for the year (24,515) (5,935)
B8 Attributable to:
EN/NEIE: £ Equity shareholders of the Company (23,650) (5,121)
IE ¥ B 25 Non-controlling interests (865) (814)
% AR BE i Loss for the year (24,515) (5,935)
(133 3] Loss per share 10
FEA B A Basic and diluted $(0.14) $(0.03)

FBATE FHE118H 2 Ml il G A IR B2 — B 1 o EN A4
] HE 72 SR L 9 W it 55 22(0)

4 ¥ 2024/25 Annual Report

The notes on pages 47 to 113 form part of these financial statements. Details of dividends
payable to equity shareholders of the Company are set out in note 22(b).

42



43

o0 18 g2 BOH fth 3 i WY 2R R

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

#E FE T HFEZH=+—HIEFEE For the year ended 31 March 2025
(L4 i 78517~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2025 2024
$°000 $'000
7846 B 4R Loss for the year (24,515) (5,935)
AR Hfb 2 s: (JBRBLE  Other comprehensive income for the year (after
REF AN - 25 AR tax and reclassification adjustment of Nil)
L7 7] BEE # 4 K 25 18 Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit
ZHA - or loss:
P i LU A A AR Exchange differences on translation of financial
JIT IS A 1Y BE 58,22 A statements of subsidiaries outside Hong Kong 3,406 3,317
T B 5T B A RS 1 W L £ Release of exchange reserve upon deregistration of
subsidiaries (1,967) -
HENEEH A7 2 HH - Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
HOHTHT R RS A Remeasurement of provision for LSP (254) -
AR A B Al 2 i WK 2 Other comprehensive income for the year 1,185 3,317
AR AR B 2 i B 2 A Total comprehensive income for the year (23,330) (2,618)
B a - Attributable to:
AN EHRE £ R Equity shareholders of the Company (22,465) (1,630)
IE 1 M 25 Non-controlling interests (865) (988)
A AF JBE 2 1hi W 2% 48 Total comprehensive income for the year (23,330) (2,618)

FATH EFE118H Z M it A B ZE 2 — bt -

4 #t 2024/25 Annual Report

The notes on pages 47 to 113 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

WM ZEZHAFE=H =+ —H At 31 March 2025

(LA T 5) 1~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

K 5 2025 2024
Note $’000 $’000
It By Non-current assets
@<L 7/ Investment properties 11 175,228 189,023
HAb 2 - g5 K 5k Other property, plant and equipment 11 38,548 58,541
213,776 247,564
Y & Intangible assets 12 128,442 133,442
Hews Rental deposits 1,391 6,132
R J0E T Deferred tax assets 21(b) 18 55
343,627 387,193
i I Current assets
EEE Mgz ER Trading securities 13 7,955 9,579
ey Inventories 14(a) 31,816 38,186
JARE AT B 2 % L At iz K Trade and other receivables 15 28,383 32,919
75 H AT AR [m] A IE Current tax recoverable 21(a) 322 339
B LB E S EY Cash and cash equivalents 16(a) 93,673 103,397
162,149 184,420
o W) £ 4 Current liabilities
JRE A R TR e L At 1 £+ 3K Trade and other payables 17 37,811 42,679
& [ A i Contract liabilities 18 3,696 4,520
iERE =R Lease liabilities 19 21,421 33,573
BN CY A T Current tax payable 21(a) 62 37
62,990 80,809
R ) 2 v Net current assets 99,159 103,611
LN R A BEK Total assets less current liabilities 442,786 490,804
U By £ 4% Non-current liabilities
IR~ =E Lease liabilities 19 23,307 31,448
R A B T AR Deferred tax liabilities 21(b) 982 943
24,289 32,391
% A i NET ASSETS 418,497 458,413
JBeAS B2 ki A CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Jig A Share capital 22(c) 383,909 383,909
fitt 4#f Reserves 20,248 68,299
AN 2y i) B 2% B B ME A Total equity attributable to equity
HE 23 A8 78 shareholders of the Company 413,157 452,208
e B hE 2% Non-controlling interests 5,340 6,205
B 2 A4 TOTAL EQUITY 418,497 458,413
EREONRFREANAZ I HEAERIZ  Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25 June
REAE R o 2025.
E 3 e Chan Wing Sun, Samuel Chan Suk Ling, Shirley

Chairman Vice Chairman

Bl K %% JH B

BATH FFE113H Z Wt GBI EZ — bt -

The notes on pages 47 to 113 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BEZF ZHAFE = H =+ — HIF4FE For the year ended 31 March 2025
(U4 #8915, Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

ety i
s

FERER

Hh2alE
BERRUARBLANRE
FrRLHEL R
FEEEAREAH

BHEFTARRCARS

S LSV EY R )
ZEZWERR-H
s

FERER

HhmlE
BARRUARBLANRE
FRLHEL R
AHMELARMNEL R

Bl ERART LA

KERERNELR
BHEFTARRCARR

i 3 1/ |

At 1 April 2023

Changes in equity:

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income:

Exchange differences on translation of financial
statements of subsidiaries outside Hong Kong

Total comprehensive income

Dividends approved and paid in respect of
previous year

At 31 March 2024 and
1 April 2024

Changes in equity:

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income:

Exchange differences on translation of financial
statements of subsidiaries outside Hong Kong

Release of exchange reserve upon
(eregisiration of subsiciaries

Remeasurement of provision for long service
payments

Total comprehensive income

Dividends approved and paid in respect of
previous year

At 31 March 2025

FATHEF113H Z Wik A B L — Al -

45

363,909 [62,480) 13,432 125,563 470424 7193 ang

- - - Bl B By B9
- 3491 - - 3491 (17 3317
- 3491 - B (16%) [ T
2 - - -6y (165%) - (1658

383,909 (48,989 13,432 103,86 452,208 6,200 458413

2

The notes on pages 47 to 113 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

#HE FE T HFEZH =+ —HIEEE For the year ended 31 March 2025
(LT 5) 1, Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BT 2025 2024
Note $’000 $’000
BB Operating activities
g ETEEZ B & Cash generated from operations 16(b) 36,407 40,830
E A BLIE Tax paid
— B A A s R AR B - Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (52) (27)
— 98 u] A s A AT B - Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded 26 216
(26) 189
R 3% B A 2 Bl A R Net cash generated from operating
activities 36,381 41,019
BEEW ) Investing activities
i LA P 2~ R I Payment for the purchase of other property,
BLEREN plant and equipment (1,724) (1,656)
EEEEHEZH I Proceeds from disposal of trading securities
JiT 15 2K IH 1,750 780
Hj ALY 2 - s & Proceeds from disposal of other property,

A BT A5 K H plant and equipment 1,002 23
Eilﬂlﬂ,m Interest received 2,367 2,445
B B A Ak 2 B A i Net cash generated from investing

activities 3,395 1,592
NS W) Financing activities
g iﬁmgméz%ww Capital element of lease rentals paid 16(c (30,667) (35,699)
O AT B & 2 FILEEBSr  Interest element of lease rentals paid 16(c (2,305) (3,679)
EAT A 2 FIRE 28 R 2 & Dividends paid to equity shareholders of the

Company (16,586) (16,586)
T35 ) O ) 2 B4 Net cash used in financing activities (49,558) (55,964)
e RBE5 MW AT HE  Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (9,782) (13,353)
WAER 2 B4 KB4 %Y Cash and cash equivalents at the

beginning of the year 103,397 118,116
A W B 5 ) 2 5 Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 58 (1,366)
WAERZB L KRB 4% Y Cash and cash equivalents at the end of

the year 16(a) 93,673 103,397

BATH FFE113H Z Wt GBI EZ — bt -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(B 3541 - 2 L4 o8 9 7~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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1 Material accounting policies

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”), Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant (“HKICPA”) and
the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(the “Company Ordinance”). These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“the Listing Rules”). Material accounting
policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards that are first effective or available for
early adoption for the current accounting period of the Group.
Note 1(c) provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these developments
to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current
accounting period reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2025 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”).

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except that the
following assets are stated at their fair value as explained in
the accounting policies set out below:

— investment properties, including interests in leasehold
land and buildings held as investment properties where
the Group is the registered owner of the property interest
(see note 1(f)); and

—  trading securities (see note 1(g)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRS Accounting Standards requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making
the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(B3 H 3541 - 29 L4 #0857~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

()

(c)

(d)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRS Accounting Standards that have significant effect
on the financial statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in note 2.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRS and HKASSs issued by the HKICPA to these financial
statements for the current accounting period:

- Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements — Classification of liabilities as current or non-
current (“2020 amendments”) and amendments to HKAS 1,
Presentation of financial statements — Non-current
liabilities with covenants (“2022 amendments”)

—  Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases — Lease liability in a
sale and leaseback

—  Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows and
HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures — Supplier
finance arrangements

None of these amendments have had a material effect on
how the Group's results and financial position for the current
or prior periods have been prepared or presented. The Group
has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not
yet effective for the current accounting period.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated financial statements from the date on which
control commences until the date on which control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised
income and expenses (except for foreign currency transaction
gains or losses) arising from intra-group transactions, are
eliminated. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised
gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(B 3541 - 2 L4 o8 9 7~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

(e)

For each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests (“NCI”) either at fair
value or at the NClI’s proportionate share of the subsidiary’s
net identifiable assets. NCI are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the
Company. NCI in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the year between
NCI and the equity shareholders of the Company. Loans from
holders of NCI and other contractual obligations towards these
holders are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position in accordance with notes 1(0)
or (n) depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it derecognises
the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related NCI
and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 1(j)(ii), unless it is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group classified as held for sale).

Other investments

The Group’s policies for investments, other than investments
in subsidiaries, are set out below.

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date
the Group commits to purchase/sell the investments. The
investments are initially stated at fair value plus directly
attributable transaction costs, except for those investments
measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”) for which
transaction costs are recognised directly in profit or loss. For
an explanation of how the Group determines fair value of
financial instruments, see note 23(f)(i). These investments are
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their
classification:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(B3 H 3541 - 29 L4 #0857~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(e)

]

Other investments (continued)

Non-equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified into
one of the following measurement categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection
of contractual cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest. Expected credit
losses, interest income calculated using the effective
interest method (see note 1(t)(v)), foreign exchange gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or
loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

—  fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”)
(recycling), if the contractual cash flows of the investment
comprise solely payments of principal and interest and
the investment is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Expected credit losses, interest
income (calculated using the effective interest method)
and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss and computed in the same manner as if
the financial asset was measured at amortised cost. The
difference between the fair value and the amortised cost
is recognised in other comprehensive income (“OCI”).
When the investment is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in OCI is recycled from equity to profit or
loss.

-  FVPL if the investment does not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling).
Changes in the fair value of the investment (including
interest) are recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment property is initially measured at cost, and
subsequently at fair value with changes therein recognised in
profit or loss.

Any gain or loss on disposal of investment property is
recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from investment
properties is recognised in accordance with note 1(t)(iii).
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1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(g)

Other property, plant and equipment

The following property held for own use, plant and equipment
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 1(j)(ii)):

— interests in leasehold land and buildings where the Group
is the registered owner of the property interest (see note

10

—  right-of-use assets arising from leases over freehold
or leasehold properties where the Group is not the
registered owner of the property interest (see note 1()));
and

— items of plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets arising from leases of underlying plant and
equipment (see note 1(i)).

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, then they are accounted for as
separate items (major components).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is recognised in profit or loss. Any related
revaluation surplus is transferred from the revaluation reserve
to retained profits and is not reclassified to profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

—  Leasehold land is depreciated over the unexpired term of
the lease.

—  The Group’s interests in buildings situated on leasehold
land are depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired
term of the lease and their estimated useful lives, being
no more than 50 years after the date of completion.

—  Plant and machinery 10 years

—  Leasehold improvements, motor vehicles
and furniture and equipment 2to 10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(B3 H 3541 - 29 L4 #0857~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(h) Intangible assets

(@)

Trademark acquired by the Group with an indefinite estimated
useful life are stated at cost less impairment losses (see
note 1(j)(ii)). Expenditure on internally generated brands is
recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives
are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful
life of an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to
determine whether events and circumstances continue to
support the indefinite useful life assessment for that asset.
If they do not, the change in the useful life assessment from
indefinite to finite is accounted for prospectively from the date
of change and in accordance with the policy for amortisation
of intangible assets with finite lives.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. This is the case if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for
a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control is
conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the
use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

(i)  Asalessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for
leases that have a short lease term of 12 months or
less, and leases of low-value item such as laptops and
office furniture. When the Group enters into a lease
in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.
If not capitalised, the associated lease payments are
recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over
the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot
be readily determined, using a relevant incremental
borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the lease liability
is measured at amortised cost and interest expense is
recognised using the effective interest method. Variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate
are not included in the measurement of the lease liability,
and are charged to profit or loss as incurred.
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(B 3541 - 2 L4 o8 9 7~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

I & 58K (H)
(i) BIEHE (4)

1

(i)

YRR RN (5

A LB A R T B 1 A RE
FE R e AT > AR A
& 90 45 4 85N e B 4G B 1 uk
Z I SCAS AT AT A A R DA R
JE A B AT AT 9 20 B LA o AR
FAEDLT - I RE &2 0 AR IR
A48 I B B 7% B A B 7 w0 iR
AH B TR %A T A b T EE A
A S AR > 5% A ZE B B & H
BB NG 11 B AT o] i B Y IR
=L o i ] RE & 7 BB AR 4 RS B R
BT B R 5 R (2
B EE 281 (Q) L EB 1)) HE) > HERL N
i P RE 2 B Ab

- fEMEEEMSSEYEN

EFE - LA EMERE (2
B B SR 251 () JHD 5 K

- o RE R LA AR [ T

A T b K g S A B
19 A0 B HE 2 DALY Ao (AR
(2 BB 5551 (9) 1)

TR 2 A % < LG D M )
B > SIf$ B E  R £
B M e 7 2 B A
(Z BB EES1(e) ~ 1)) &1()3)
) o % 4 10 4% 28 1E (BB B0 4R
2% FUAE AR Y H 20 FF J B AR B A
AR - FF A HE A

W R A A AR — 4 B
REEW) A BCE A 4R [ T Y
R A5 TR 5 {3 1 965 PR il st 750 30 R A
W 5 AT 5 > o DR R o il A £
Ve A L i A AT 0 R
A B A AL SRR T AR A )
A EoR At B AR - Ty
ACH T A A T R
B 1Y) B TR (LI F A E 9 B > B
il 5 1 HE O 1O R T (B BB =
Z o AR 2R SR o

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(i) Leased assets (continued)

()  Asalessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate
of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset
or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which
it is located, less any lease incentives received. The
right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
notes 1(g) and 1(j)(ii), except for the following types of

right-of-use asset:

— right-of-use assets that meet the definition of
investment property are carried at fair value (see

note 1(f)); and

—  right-of-use assets related to leasehold land and
buildings where the Group is the registered owner
of the leasehold interest are carried at fair value (see

note 1(g))

Refundable rental deposits are accounted for separately
from the right-of-use assets in accordance with the
accounting policy applicable to investments in non-equity
securities carried at amortised cost (see notes 1(g), 1()(v)
and 1(j)(i). Any excess of the nominal value over the initial
fair value of the deposits is accounted for as additional
lease payments made and is included in the cost of right-

of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate
of the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or if the Group changes its assessment
of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured
in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded
in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use

asset has been reduced to zero.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(B3 H 3541 - 29 L4 #0857~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(i) Leased assets (continued)

M

As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
lease modification, which means a change in the scope
of a lease or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract, if such
modification is not accounted for as a separate lease. In
this case, the lease liability is remeasured based on the
revised lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification. The
only exceptions are rent concessions that occurred as a
direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and met
the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16
Leases. In such cases, the Group has taken advantage
of the practical expedient not to assess whether the rent
concessions are lease modifications, and recognised
the change in consideration as negative variable lease
payments in profit or loss in the period in which the event
or condition that triggers the rent concessions occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined
as the present value of contractual payments that are
due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting
period.

As a lessor

The Group determines at lease inception whether each
lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease is
classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of an
underlying assets to the lessee. Otherwise, the lease is
classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. The rental income from operating
leases is recognised in accordance with note 1 (t)(iii).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-
leases are classified as a finance lease or as an operating
lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from
the head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease
to which the Group applies the exemption described in
note 1(i)(i), then the Group classifies the sub-lease as an
operating lease.

4 ¥ 2024/25 Annual Report

54



55

&G W R B e

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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1 Material accounting policies (continued)

()  Credit losses and impairment of assets

()  Credit losses from financial instruments and lease

receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected

credit losses (“ECLs”) on:

— financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents and trade and

other receivables); and

- lease receivables.

Financial assets measured at fair value are not subject to

the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Generally, credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls between the

contractual and expected amounts.

For undrawn loan commitments, expected cash
shortfalls are measured as the difference between (i) the
contractual cash flows that would be due to the Group
if the holder of the loan commitment draws down on the
loan and (i) the cash flows that the Group expects to

receive if the loan is drawn down.

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the

following rates if the effect is material:

— fixed-rate financial assets and trade and other
receivables: effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation thereof;

— variable-rate financial assets: current effective

interest rate; and

- lease receivables: discount rate used in the

measurement of the lease receivable.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs
is the maximum contractual period over which the Group

is exposed to credit risk.

4 ¥ 2024/25 Annual Report



1 3 5k B (8)
() 1 L2 4 1 2 75 A (HF)

(i)

S A T EL T R i AR O HE 2 G 1R B
e 18 (40)

G B 18 09 7t 42 (4F)

TR S 1R AR R DL AL T —
T AL R

— oA EME SRR H
MmcE AT M A R
(G 7% T HL B 8 1) 4F BR D it
A 2 A e )
] RE B AR 0 A i
& 2 TR S 5 K&

- EMENERER  HAE
VIRV RS R RENED S
FH AR AT RESEAT 2 T A
A S A O T
e -

7 AR (o] 44 45 (] 7 4 IR A7 A 0 1 7R
W15 B 1H 0 < HH R s 4R
i o MELLR # A+ W A EAE R
s R BRI

= JAHCE B R E £ R B AR
4 Rl TH 5 R

— A5 A JE B (AR & /@l T 291
SO AR R A R A 1Y Ja )
FI A2 it i DA ARSI 2 K i
THI) Ho At TR -

R WS R I T 5 R e 4R A A
— et S [ 7 AR A A Y TR
(ER 4 X R

1 B B K g 20

A 1R E 4l TR R B A )
RS LA AT B R E T
AR BN B RN AL
75 A B S B ZELAST o 2 A
B85 T B R M A 2 5 B AT S
BE o UL IE AR IR A A I 2 T A
B [ B AE S RE A 1S R S E
PEEORE B AT > LA AT WE TR ©

HemEEEmNER=1TH &
A T B HL A5 BRI K0 BT

o6 W R I AR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(B3 H 3541 - 29 L4 #0857~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

M

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are the portion of ECLs that
result from default events that are possible within
the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter
period if the expected life of the instrument is less
than 12 months); and

—  lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from
all possible default events over the expected lives of
the items to which the ECL model applies.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which are
measured at 12-months ECLs:

— financial instruments that are determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date; and

— other financial instruments (including loan
commitments issued) for which credit risk (i.e. the
risk of default occurring over the expected life of the
financial instrument) has not increased significantly
since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract
assets are always measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument (including a loan commitment) has increased
significantly since initial recognition and when measuring
ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative
and qualitative information and analysis, based on
the Group’s historical experience and informed credit
assessment, that includes forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days
past due.
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1 Material accounting policies (continued)

@

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

U)

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

For loan commitments, the date of initial recognition for
the purpose of assessing ECLs is considered to be the
date that the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment. In assessing whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
of a loan commitment, the Group considers changes in
the risk of default occurring on the loan to which the loan
commitment relates.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default
when:

—  the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to
the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to
actions such as realising security (if any is held); or

- thefinancial asset is 90 days past due.

The Group considers a financial instrument to have low
credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the
globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss.
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all
financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset, lease
receivable or contract asset is written off to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is
generally the case when the asset becomes 365 days
past due or when the Group otherwise determines that
the debtor does not have assets or sources of income
that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in
profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(B3 H 3541 - 29 L4 #0857~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

(i)

Impairment of other non-current assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its non-financial assets (other than property
carried at revalued amounts, investment property,
inventories and other contract costs, contract assets
and deferred tax assets) to determine whether there
is any indication of impairment. If any such indication
exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into
the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
from continuing use that are largely independent of the
cash inflows of other assets or cash-generating units
(“CGU” s). Goodwill arising from a business combination is
allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the
greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal. Value in use is based on the estimated future
cash flows, discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount
of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the
carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a
pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.
For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only
to the extent that the resulting carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no
impairment loss had been recognised.

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to prepare
an interim financial report in compliance with HKAS
34, Interim financial reporting, in respect of the first six
months of the financial year. At the end of the interim
period, the Group applies the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the end of
the financial year (see note 1().
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1 Material accounting policies (continued)

@

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Interim financial reporting and impairment (continued)

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in
respect of goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent
period. This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss,
would have been recognised had the impairment been
assessed only at the end of the financial year to which
the interim period relates.

(k) Inventories

®

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out formula and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable
value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an
expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The
amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories
is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-
refundable consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue (see note 1(t)). A contract liability would also be
recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
non-refundable consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognised (see note 1(m)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(B3 H 3541 - 29 L4 #0857~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(m) Trade and other receivables

(n)

(0)

(p)

(q9)

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration and only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction
price. Trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and other receivables are initially measured at fair
value plus transaction costs. All receivables are subsequently
stated at amortised cost (see noted (j)(i)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value
less transaction costs. Subsequently, these borrowings are
stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense is recognised in accordance with note 1(v).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other payables
are stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at invoice
amounts.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management are also included as
a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose
of the consolidated cash flow statement. Cash and cash
equivalents are assessed for ECL (see note 1(j)(i)).

Employee benefits

(i)  Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the
amount expected to be paid if the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a
result of past service provided by the employee and the
obligation can be estimated reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans are expensed as the related service is
provided.
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1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(9

Employee benefits (continued)

(i)

(i)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises costs for a
restructuring.

Defined benefit plan obligations

The Group has the following two categories of defined
benefit plans:

— defined benefit retirement plans registered under
the Hong Kong Occupational Retirement Schemes
Ordinance (the “ORSO plans”)

— long service payments (“LPS”) under the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance.

The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit
plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating
the amount of future benefit that employees have
earned in the current and prior periods and discounting
that amount. For ORSO plans, the net obligation is
after deducting the fair value of plan assets. For LSP
obligations, the estimated amount of future benefit is
determined after deducting the negative service cost
arising from the accrued benefits derived from the
Group’s mandatory provident fund contributions that
have been vested with employees, which are deemed to
be contributions from the relevant employees.

The calculation of defined benefit obligation is performed
by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit
method. For ORSO plans, when the calculation results
in a benefit to the Group, the recognised asset is limited
to the present value of economic benefits available in the
form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in
future contributions to the plan.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit plans,
which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return
on plan assets in ORSO plans (excluding interest) and
the effect of any asset ceiling (excluding interest), are
recognised immediately in OCI. Net interest expense for
the period is determined by applying the discount rate
used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the
beginning of the reporting period to the then net defined
benefit liability, taking into account any changes in the
net defined benefit liability during the period. Net interest
expense and other expenses related to defined benefit
plans are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(B3 H 3541 - 29 L4 #0857~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(r)

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax.
It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it
relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly
in equity or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or receivable
on the taxable income or loss for the year and any adjustments
to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years.
The amount of current tax payable or receivable is the best
estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received
that reflects any uncertainty related to income taxes. It is
measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax arising
from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria
are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation
purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for:

—  temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets
or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business
combination and that affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences;

- temporary differences related to investment in
subsidiaries, associates and joint venture to the extent
that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that they
will not reverse in the foreseeable future;

— taxable temporary differences arising on the initial
recognition of goodwill; and

—  those related to the income taxes arising from tax laws
enacted or substantively enacted to implement the
Pillar Two model rules published by the Organisation for
Economic Co-operation and Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities and right-
of-use assets.
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(B 3541 - 2 L4 o8 9 7~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(r)

(s)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses,
unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which they can be used. Future taxable
profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant
taxable temporary differences. If the amount of taxable
temporary differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred tax
asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for reversals
of existing temporary differences, are considered, based on
the business plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group.
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date
and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that the related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions
are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits
improves.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value
in accordance with note 1(f), the amount of deferred tax
recognised is measured using the tax rates that would apply
on sale of those assets at their carrying value at the reporting
date, unless the property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the property over time,
rather than through sale. In all other cases, the measurement
of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the
reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its
assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessment of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the liability.

A provision for warranties is recognised when the underlying
products or services are sold, based on historical warranty
data and a weighting of possible outcomes against their
associated probabilities.

A provision for onerous contracts is measured at the present
value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the
contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the
contract, which is determined based on the incremental costs
of fulfiling the obligation under that contract and an allocation
of other costs directly related to fulfiling that contract. Before a
provision is established, the Group recognises any impairment
loss on the assets associated with that contract (see note

1)i).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(B3 H 3541 - 29 L4 #0857~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(s) Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

®

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sale of goods, the provision of printing and related
services, the licensing or the use by others of the Group’s
assets under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s
business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer, or the lessee has the right
to use the asset, at the amount of promised consideration
to which the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding
those amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue
excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i)  Sale of goods

Revenue arising from the sale of garments and printing
products is recognised when goods are delivered to
the customers’ premises or picked up by customers for
domestic sales and when goods are shipped on board
for export sales which is taken to be the point in time
when the customer takes possession and accepted the
goods.

(i) Royalty income

Royalty income is recognised on an accrual basis
in accordance with the substance of the relevant
agreements.

(i)  Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.
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1 Material accounting policies (continued)

®

()

Revenue and other income (continued)
(iv) Dividends

— Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive
payment is established.

— Dividend income from listed investments is
recognised when the share price of the investment
goes ex-dividend.

(v) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Translation of foreign currencies

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the
Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
respective functional currencies of group companies at the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated into the functional currency at the exchange
rate when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities that are measured based on historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate
at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences are
generally recognised in profit or loss.

However, foreign currency differences arising from the
translation of an investment in equity securities designated as
at FVOCI are recognised in OCI.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(B3 H 3541 - 29 L4 #0857~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(u) Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

v)

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or
partially such that control, significant influence or joint control
is lost, the cumulative amount in the exchange reserve related
to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part
of the gain or loss on disposal. On disposal of a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences relating to that foreign operation
that have been attributed to the NCI shall be derecognised,
but shall not be reclassified to profit or loss. If the Group
disposes of part of its interest in a subsidiary but retains
control, then the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount
is reattributed to NCI. When the Group disposes of only part
of an associate or joint venture while retaining significant
influence or joint control, the relevant proportion of the
cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

(w) Related parties

(1) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.

(2) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

()  The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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1 Material accounting policies (continued)

(w) Related parties (continued)

(x)

(2) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (1).

(vi) A person identified in (1)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(B3 H 3541 - 29 L4 #0857~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2

Accounting judgements and estimates

Notes 11(b) and 23 contain information about the assumptions
and their risk factors relating to valuation of investment properties
and financial instruments. Other significant sources of estimation
uncertainty are as follows:

(a)

(b)

Impairment of intangible assets

The Group assesses whether these non-current assets may
be impaired in accordance with the accounting policy stated
in note 1(j)(ii).

The recoverable amounts of these non-current assets have
been determined based on the greater of value-in-use and
fair value less costs of disposal. These calculations require
the use of judgement and estimates, in particular of future
revenue, future profit margin and terminal growth rate. Due to
inherent risk associated with the estimations, the estimated
recoverable amount of the assets may be different from its
actual recoverable amount and the Group’s profit or loss
could be affected by the accuracy of the estimations.

Write-down of inventories

The Group performs regular reviews of the carrying amounts
of inventories with reference to aged inventories analyses,
projections of expected future saleability of goods and
management experience and judgement. Based on this
review, a write down of inventories will be made when the
estimated net realisable value decline below their carrying
amounts of inventories. Due to changes in customers’
preferences and actual saleability of goods may be different
from estimation, profit or loss in future accounting periods
could be affected by differences in this estimation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(B 3541 - 2 L4 o8 9 7~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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3 Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are garment wholesaling and
retailing, trademark ownership and licensing, property investment
and provision of security printing, general business printing and
trading of printing products.

(i) Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
significant category of revenue is as follows:

2025 2024
$’°000 $'000
(HWE B #5159 Revenue from contracts with customers
W B 5 4 A A within the scope of HKFRS 15
B AR Sales of garments 119,017 182,623
BRI HE 2 IR B U 2R Rovyalty and related income 21,739 19,861
ETV R B B IR 5 i 28 Income from printing and related services 27,462 27,084
168,218 229,568
2R F il 2 95 9 A Revenue from other sources
WEWEM G U A — Gross rentals from investment properties —
T AT 3K 2% T 2 s 46 88k lease payments that are fixed or depend
FI] 7 H) on an index or a rate 9,634 8,867
177,852 238,435

W AU o B & %) %5 1% 1 8 T
39 B T Wi R 2 4(c) A -

AEEZEFHEBEZ UL REE
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Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
geographical location is disclosed in note 4(c).

The Group’s customer base is diversified and no individual
customer with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of
the Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024.

(i) Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising from
contracts with customers in existence at the reporting date

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 and therefore the information about
the remaining performance obligation is not disclosed for
contracts that have an original expected duration of one year
or less and also for those performance obligations which are
regarded as satisfied as invoiced.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(B3 H 3541 - 29 L4 #0857~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

4 Segment reporting

(a)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are
organised by business lines. In a manner consistent with
the way in which information is reported internally to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes
of resources allocation and performance assessment, the
Group has presented the following four reportable segments.
No operating segments have been aggregated to form the
following reportable segments.

—  Sales of garments: wholesaling and retailing of garments.

—  Licensing of trademarks: management and licensing of
trademarks for royalty income.

—  Printing and related services: provision of security printing
and sale of printed products.

—  Property rental: leasing of properties to generate rental
income.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s most
senior executive management monitors the results, assets
and liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets and
current assets with the exception of deferred tax assets,
trading securities, current tax recoverable, cash and cash
equivalents and other corporate assets. Segment liabilities
include trade and other payables and contract liabilities, lease
liabilities and bank overdrafts with the exception of current tax
payable, deferred tax liabilities and other corporate liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation of assets
attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit or loss is
“EBITDA”, i.e. “earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation
and impairment loss on non-current assets”, where “interest”
includes investment income.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
EBITDA, management is provided with segment information
concerning revenue (including inter-segment sales), interest
income and expenses from cash balances and borrowings
managed directly by the segments, depreciation and
impairment losses and additions to non-current segment
assets used by the segments in their operations. Inter-
segment sales are priced with reference to prices charged to
external parties for similar orders.
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4 4B 8 4 Segment reporting (continued)
(a) A I8FL ~ B KA (H) (a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)
BE X - NER _ENE=A Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as
== H IR A AT provided to the Group’s most senior executive management
BN B RS A B AL E 2 W for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
R (DA H 47 R A3 e B 4y T R segment performance for the years ended 31 March 2025
BREAY) - FEIER and 2024 is set out below:

RESMEF Z A
Revenue from external customers
S EA

Inter-segment revenue

RERZAHA

Reportable segment revenue

FER P by
Reportable segment profit 25,663 6,531

FIEBA
Interest income 57 7
LS &
Interest expense (2,643) (151)
KEFZHE
Depreciation for the year (87,269) (1,182
fEmEfEER
Valuation losses on investment

properties - -
R EREZBERR
Impairment losses on intangible assets - -
AT A B
Gain on early termination of leases 1,979 -
HERZ A WG
Reportable segment assets 495,338 147,113
AEERERRE NG E
Additions to non-current segment

assets during the year 40,337 832
HERZAWAMK
Reportable segment liabilities 471,831 14,356

182,623

182,623

19,861
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4 5B E (8
(b) HEMAPBYA ~ 25 BAERL

4 Segment reporting (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss,

V- assets and liabilities
2025 2024
$°000 $’000
WA Revenue
HE R Z A Reportable segment revenue 180,312 240,690
53 R 2 A0 8 Elimination of inter-segment revenue (2,460) (2,255)
A A Consolidated revenue 177,852 238,435
N 45 Loss
G Reportable segment profit 29,799 36,160
DL 8 B AR A MR 2 A Interest income on financial assets
B A measured at amortised cost 2,367 2,445
e Depreciation (31,644) (39,895)
WEWEAEEE Valuation losses on investment properties (17,450) -
TR E 2 W AE i 1 Impairment losses on intangible assets (5,000) -
Rl & A Finance costs (2,352) (3,722)
KA 2 | KAk Unallocated head office and corporate loss (81) (1,019)
bR BT 45 5 4R Consolidated loss before taxation (24,361) (6,031)
ﬁfi Assets
Bz o E Reportable segment assets 789,042 858,559
n\jﬁ ] AT R 2 g Elimination of inter-segment receivables (386,259) (401,421)
402,783 457,138
I SiE ol VA Deferred tax assets 18 55
fERE Mgz Ed Trading securities 7,955 9,579
7 1 A AR (] i IE Current tax recoverable 322 339
B4 I B4 S5 18 Cash and cash equivalents 93,673 103,397
Ay 2 M ) J A A Unallocated head office and corporate
assets 1,025 1,105
A MERE Consolidated total assets 505,776 571,613
1145 Liabilities
Rk bt S =R Reportable segment liabilities 464,524 505,676
A3 [ R AF 3Kk 2 B Elimination of inter-segment payables (386,259) (401,421)
78,265 104,255
A 3 1R ASH B TR Current tax payable 62 37
0 A0 ol IH A Deferred tax liabilities 982 943
F ol 2 s F KA AR Unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities 7,970 7,965
mEmAa Consolidated total liabilities 87,279 113,200
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4 5k oE)

(c) Jb I 5 38 & #

R B A A A0 R - () AR 42 1
RKE SN BT WA R (A 2 2 #
W - HALY - WE Kk Y
EE(HFEFERBEE] - FF 2
It 73 2 5 A JIR S 2 43 o R B s
H s RS E IR T A Ay 2 -
T I e % A 1t [ A7 2 66 A JHE B
JIT A b T T A ) LR 3 A s B
R A BB AE Ml o

4 Segment reporting (continued)
(c¢) Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the geographical
location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external customers
and (ii) the Group’s investment properties, other property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets (“specified non-
current assets”). The geographical location of customers is
based on the location at which the services were provided or
the goods delivered. The geographical location of the specified
non-current assets is based on the physical location of the
assets, in the case of other property, plant and equipment,
and the location to which they are managed, in the case of
intangible assets.

KEMREFBRA 85 € 9 By
Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
2025 2024 2025 2024
$’000 $°000 $°000 $’'000
s (FE ) Hong Kong (place of domicile) 120,063 137,499 56,537 66,677
B Taiwan 2,025 3,041 381 768
F R A (B3 Mainland China
TP R AT B 1) (including Macau SAR) 28,845 70,998 4,882 15,984
B ] The United Kingdom 9,635 8,867 175,228 189,023
HoAth Others 17,284 18,030 102,379 108,554
57,789 100,936 282,870 314,329
177,852 238,435 339,407 381,006

5 3 fib Wk 2% O B

5 Other net gain

2025 2024
$°000 $'000

DB B AR AR 2 B TS Interest income on financial assets measured
FE U A at amortised cost 2,367 2,445
HEEEEHRZHHF I Gain on disposal of trading securities 67 23
EEE H® 2 #EHF M/ fUH 2 M58 Change in fair value of trading securities 59 109

HEHAY ¥ - B LE#EA Gain on disposal of other property, plant and
Z IR % equipment 683 2
P A 1 A A Gain on early termination of leases 137 1,979
L B B A R R Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries 1,917 9
R 2 e A Service fee income 1,478 -
BE 520k 25 (598 7 38 Net exchange gain/(loss) 1,247 (2,519)
HoAts Others 1,582 1,759
9,537 3,807
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6 BB # 6 Loss before taxation
BRBLAT R R B (GEA) ¢ Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
2025 2024
$°000 $'000
(a) BEHEMA (a) Finance costs
R4 AaEMNE Interest on LSP liabilities 47 43
HE&EAE (HiE516(c)TE) Interest on lease liabilities (note 16(c)) 2,305 3,679
2,352 3,722
(b) ATHEA (b) Staff costs
FE fFOR AGT #) 2 Ak K Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans 3,074 4,997
Bra - L8 R A AR Salaries, wages and other benefits 56,556 81,069
59,630 86,066
(¢c) HxEH (¢c) Other items
3¢ | Auditors’ remuneration
— BBURS — audit services 2,416 2,717
— B R - tax services 299 518
— HAth iR % — other services 277 181
2,992 3,416
Preg & n (M sEsE11(a)E) Depreciation charge* (note 11(a))
— WHENYE - BE KA — owned property, plant and equipment 3,259 3,585
— AR EE - right-of-use assets 28,385 36,310
BEY AN ERE IR Valuation losses on investment
(B 55511 (a)MH) properties (note 11(a)) 17,450 -
R Wi R B 2 Tk M e 4R Impairment losses on trade debtors
(B 51 5523(a) 1H) (note 23(a)) 685 831
MY 2 W s 1R Impairment losses on intangible assets
(B EEEE121H) (note 12) 5,000 -
BEyEBERH S EE Y Rentals receivable from investment
2,149,0007C ( —~ & Y4 : properties less direct outgoings of
1,907,0007¢C) $2,149,000 (2024: $1,907,000) (7,485) (6,960)
* 7 18 A L 45 B T A A 8 T AT B 2 * Cost of inventories includes $10,010,000 (2024: $10,173,000) relating to staff
10,010,0007C (— % —JU 4 : 10,173,0007¢) ° costs and depreciation, which amount is also included in the respective total
A7 B BTN R A L SR S T 456 (0)JE 20 7 51 7R amounts disclosed separately above or in note 6(b) for each of these types of
Z B A expenses.
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7 BB R B Z B

7 Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit

T s R 15 B 2 48 M 0 4% AR AE AN R
JE G s A AY16.5% (% DY 4E ¢
16.5%) 515 o

A DL S b [ Y e 2 W 22 B IR DA
I ) i M L T 2 BLAT B RO -

AR AR 7R R SRR S
19% (. F 04 1 19%) o

A B 3 PR A 4R I HR A M SRS
B A ZE TS B R 25% (& U 4E ¢
25%) o

FEHEE NRILAE (TR BET >
A 8 2 A B S R E TR
() % 2B B U1 0% TE 30 B « SR -
AP E - kg —F
T\ — H — H B B R i A 8 i
8o i v B A b BEL AN B O T AE A
2 T RT A B Wk BT
T A TE 0B SR ALRL o AR BE P A b
LA k2 R G R 4 Bk > A 4R
78 i A A2 B 1 H B A R A D T S
A B9 AT ] 1B 8. 4525 %KY T8 11 B 3R 45 fF
FEINHL

or loss
, Taxation in th lidated stat t it or 1
(a) B 2 H AL B - (a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
represents:
2025 2024
$’000 $'000
A S BEIE — 7 W A A B Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax
A AE 1 A Provision for the year 106 37
DA A B 48 7 435 Over-provision in respect of prior years (28) (215)
78 (178)
3 9E B I Deferred tax
JEE A= R4 ] B IR PE 2 SR Origination and reversal of temporary
differences 76 82
154 (96)

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at
16.5% (2024: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for
the year.

Taxation for subsidiaries based outside Hong Kong is charged
at the appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the
relevant jurisdictions.

The corporate tax rate applicable to the Group’s operations in
the United Kingdom is 19% (2024: 19%) for the year.

The Corporate Income Tax rate applicable to the Group’s
operations in Mainland China is 25% (2024: 25%) for the year.

Under the tax law of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”),
a 10% withholding tax shall be levied on dividends declared
to foreign investors from the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland
China, however, only the dividends attributable to the profits
of the financial period starting from 1 January 2008 will be
subject to withholding tax. A lower withholding tax rate may
be applied if there is a tax treaty arrangement between the
PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investor. Pursuant to a
double tax arrangement between Mainland China and Hong
Kong, the Group is subject to a withholding tax at a rate of
5% for any dividend payments from its PRC subsidiaries in
Mainland China.
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Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense/(credit) and accounting loss

1% 3 B il 352 B - at applicable tax rates:
2025 2024
$’000 $'000
I B 1T s 1 Loss before taxation (24,361) (6,031)
Fie BETE AR B B %5 A ek [ Notional tax on loss before taxation,
R BLRFI R BLAT 1 2 calculated at the rates applicable in the
2 2 BiIA relevant jurisdictions concerned (5,992) (1,436)
AR ek 2 2 B R 2 Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 5,175 3,094
FEFRBLUN 2 B T 52 %% Tax effect of non-taxable income (1,190) (1,082)
KRR 2 A B A BLEE R H A Tax effect of unused tax losses and other
BT 2 B BLIH Y B temporary differences not recognised 4,979 3,873
DLAEAE B R 2 KRB BLERS Tax effect of unused tax losses and other
TR A BT F 4 22 B A R0 temporary differences not recognised in
T o A 2 ol 1A 5 2 prior years but utilised during the year (2,790) (4,330)
DUAE AF BE 2 48 70 435 Over-provision in respect of prior years (28) (215)
HREBLIE A () Actual tax expense/(credit) 154 (96)

8 HIHME 8 Directors’ emoluments
M4 A W5 O Al 1) 55383(1) M K& (/A Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the
(Pl 7% 25 2 0 g k) BB 28 238 2 M i Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
Wiz EHmMEmr (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation
are as follows:
f ARV
KRR kA
Salaries, Bt ik
HH L allowances and Discretionary  Retirement scheme Bt

Directors’ fees benefits in kind bonuses contributions Total

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024

$000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000  $000
Wk Executive directors
B 5 Chan Wing Sun, Samuel 40 0 0 1,12 112 - 94 - - 1,162 1256
JET 3% Chan Suk Ling, Shirley 40 40 © 1,409 1409 - 17 - - 1449 1566
ki Fu Sing Yam, William 40 40 1812 1812 - 151 90 90 1942 2,093
WiZE Chan Wing Fui, Peter 40 40 - - - - - - 40 40
Bk B Chan Wing Kee 40 40 - - - - - - 40 40
URER AT Independent non-executive

directors
BREE Chai Ting Ki 130 130 - - - - - - 130 130
hiEE So Stephen Hon Cheung 130 130 - - - - - - 130 130
=S Li Guangming 130 130 - - - - - - 130 130
590 590 4,343 4,343 - 362 0 90 5,023 5,385
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WM E A L

LM ERm 2 NLd s = (ZF
T =) BEE A BRI
WK EEHSHE - BME _F _HFE=A
=t —HIEHEAMAN L ZMEBENT

9

10

9 Individuals with highest emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three (2024
three) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 8. The
emoluments of the other individuals for the year ended 31 March
2025 are as follows:

2025 2024
$°000 $'000
i 4 S HAh P 4 Salaries and other emoluments 2,670 2,674
19 7 A€ 4L Discretionary bonuses 81 81
FERAN I RF e Retirement scheme contributions 18 18
2,769 2,773

WAL B < AN b (R PUAE WA A )

The emoluments of the two (2024: two) individuals with the highest

M 4 AT B I emoluments are within the following bands:
2025 2024
A¥ N
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
1,500,0017t £2,000,0007T $1,500,001 to $2,000,000 1 1
1,000,0017t %2 1,500,0007T $1,000,001 to $1,500,000 1 1
5 Kk 5 # 10 Loss per share
(a) HFIRHEA W #H (a) Basic loss per share

(b)

B B B A e 1R % IR A AR B 2 AR T
HE 4 % B ME A BE5 $223,650,00070 (-
T PU4E £ 5,121,0000T) M E 8 4T
A 165,864,000/ (2 U4 :
165,864,000/ ) 715 o

i HE . p7
WE_EF _HHEL T _NE=A
= IR AR AN R A T
T RE 7 09 I s B A R AR
Ve 5 L g e 4 0 R 4R A ) o

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the
loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of
$23,650,000 (2024: $5,121,000) and 165,864,000 (2024:
165,864,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted loss per share

There were no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding
during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.
Accordingly, the diluted loss per share is the same as the
basic loss per share.
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11 &YW ERILMBYE - W 11 Investment properties and other property, plant

B ik i and equipment
(a) JE i fi 2 2 W (a) Reconciliation of carrying amount
RAN2
iR )Y 5 S
FhkEE  BEANZ fe B Rt
Ownership A Leasehold
interests Other improvements,
in land and properties KR RS motor vehicles, E3-CE
buildings held |eased for Plantand furniture and it [nvestment A
for own use own use machinery equipment Sub-total properties Total
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
AR Cost or valuation:
RoEZZENA-H At 1 Aorll 2023 31,693 124,097 NATT 40,233 7460 186,345 403,805
[FEL Bxchange adustments - (1,892) 2 (367) 2.261) 2,678 47
WE-fEET Adjustments - lease moifications - 8,130 - - 3,130 - 3,190
HE Additions - 4460 751 1,696 6,867 - 6,867
HEREHAL Disposals and early termination - (20812 (076) (3280) (25,068) - (25,068)
BoFZWE=R=1-H At 31 March 2024 31,683 140,983 21,250 38,242 232,128 189,023 421,151
f#: Representing;
ik Cost 31,603 140,983 21,250 38,242 232,128 - 232,128
i it Veluation - 2024 - - - - - 189,023 189,023
31,683 140,983 21,250 38,242 232,128 189,023 421,151
REFZWERA-H At 1 Aorll 2024 31,663 140,983 21,260 38,242 232,128 189,023 421,151
Bt Exchange adjustments - 39) - (0 ) 3,65 3614
#E-HEE Adjustments - lease modifications - 14251 - - 14251 - 14251
RE Additions - T4 832 1518 3,004 - 3,004
HE R Disposals and early termination - (33734 - (5.274) (39,00 - (39,008)
INEL Fair value adjustment - - - - - (17.450) (17,450)
RoZZREZA=1-0 At 31 March 2025 31,693 122,05 2,08 34,484 210424 175,228 385,662
R Representing;
s Cost 31,663 122,200 22,082 34,484 210424 - 210424
fhi-2%-1E Valuafion - 2025 - - - - - 175,08 175,08
31,693 122,05 2,08 34,484 10424 175,228 385,662
Bt E R - Accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses:
RoZZZENA-H At 1 Aorl 2023 25,529 81,802 18,819 34,040 160,190 - 160,190
EiRg Exchange adjustments - (1,23 4] (219) (1,453 - (1459
KEERE Charge for the year 282 35,461 967 3,189 39,895 - 39,895
HERER Written back on disposals - (20812) (%85) (3278) (25,045 - (26,049)
REZZWE=R=1-H At 31 March 2024 25,811 95,216 16,828 33,7132 173,587 - 173,687
REFZRENA-H At 1 Aorll 2024 25,811 95,216 16,828 33,7132 173,587 - 173,587
[FEL Bxchange adustments - 2 - 1) @) - @)
KEERE Charge for the year 2) 27508 87 2007 31,644 - 31,644
HERER Written back on disposals - (28.399) - (4954 (33,352 - (33,359)
RoFZREZA=T-H At 31 March 2025 26,093 94414 19,685 31,684 171,876 - 171,876
THE Net book value:
RERZREZAZT-H At March 2025 5560 e 23 2800 3,548 175,228 213776
REZZWE=A=1-H At 31 March 2024 5,842 45,767 2422 4510 58,541 189,023 247,564
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1M #EWEREMBYE - BB
B ik i (1)

(b) BRHEWFK AR AMa 7

(i)

VAPINIEES

TEREIALBBEYRZ AR
{H > ZE AW SO IR %
REw MR E SR G MR O
i B 5 i HE AN SE185E [ AL
HFEHE IR E 2 Z A RER
o M N REF RSB ERY
A& 2 7% 40 (BT 35 B A B
172 B S AR AR R

— SR ARANE AR — SR
A B (R A 5t
& H R E R

o5 B 111 5 2 o 4
A ) F R
2R

— RARANME R G A A
B (R0 OR fE 2
P — sk < Tl
E-3 PN & JES
A i E R A AT
BLEME) G &
Z s Sl o A
(R -3 1€ PEECR
AT 5 E R
Z WE

— SHEARANE R A AT B

11 Investment properties and other property, plant
and equipment (continued)

(b) Fair value measurement of investment properties

U)

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
investment properties measured at the end of the
reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into the
three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13,
Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference
to the observability and significance of the inputs used in
the valuation technique as follows:

— Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets at the
measurement date

— Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs
which fail to meet Level 1, and
not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are

not available

— Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using

BUEFTEZA significant unobservable
ol inputs
ARl
Fair value
2025 2024

W= Level 3 $°000 $’000
R PR R A R Recurring fair value measurement
P 3 — B Commercial — The United Kingdom 175,228 189,023

R E T A T P4
A=+ HIEFEE > BNE %
HLEE 4R 2 (WA RS > ol A
Fokh s g A o AR
TR T E A AL 11 i AT R
IS FUAE ZRAE 2 T RS o

AL TR EYRER —F I
ER_FEZEZH =T —HE
G AR o Ak e Fh 28 S B R 2 B
I B S0 B R P A A 0 AT R F A
70 w% 28 W) B L2 7 vk ) 2R
TERETH > BAEHAREL
W) 3 Ho B ORI 1) 20 W KE B o A
T 6 B L A A i R
S AR A (BB B AN AR

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to
recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy
as at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

All of the Group’s investment properties were revalued
as at 31 March 2025 and 2024. The valuations were
carried out by an independent firm of surveyors, Ravia
Global Appraisal Advisory Limited (“Ravia”), who have
among their staff Fellows of the Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors with recent experience in the location and
category of properties being valued. The management
have discussion with the surveyors on the valuation
assumptions and valuation results when the valuations
were performed at the end of the reporting period.
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n#EEYEXRXTLMBYE - BB
B wk i (s
(b) BHWEKL R A G ()
(i)  ARE =N REF R ER

11 Investment properties and other property, plant

and equipment (continued)

(b) Fair value measurement of investment properties (continued)

(i) Information about Level 3 fair value measurement

A Bl
LN ¢
A 06 5 4l Unobservable i
Valuation techniques inputs Range
B — % Commercial | i R K i
- The United kingdom Market comparison Premium on quality -5% to 5%
approach of the properties (2024: 0% to 5%)

O A 5% B 1) £5 & W) 36 2 o LB TG
275 R ) Hb [ m] A B 1Y 3 6
5 > TR0 BTG (AR R T R

TP T 3 LU A B3 o (8 14 Y 1
oI R T R BT B AT B
B LR - TR R R
BTN Bw  APEES R ER R
ETte

BB 20 A SO E R ARG R
i 2 [ 15 W) S A (B AR ] JECT e

The fair value of investment properties located in the
United Kingdom is determined on an open market value
basis, by making reference to the comparable sale
transactions evidence in the relevant locality.

The premium or discount used in market comparison
approach is specific to the building compared to
the recent sale transactions. Higher premium for
higher quality buildings will result in a higher fair value
measurement.

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is
recognised in the line item “Valuation losses on

PR o investment properties” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.
(c) (& #E ¥ 7 (¢) Right-of-use assets
22 A R 7 SR B oy 2 (A A E R The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by
mFES T class of underlying asset is as follows:
i 2025 2024
Note $’000 $'000
FEA Az 1 K igF Ownership interests in land and
JIT 7 HERE 25 4% 3T 85 LA 5] buildings held for own use,
> B rHEMNATF2 carried at depreciated cost, with
TH4EZAN remaining lease term between 10
and 50 years (i) 5,560 5,842
FrfEE A2 HibB AMEY  Other properties leased for own
¥ WP ARSI IR use, carried at depreciated cost (ii) 27,791 45,767
W E B AR o HR YT Plant and machinery, carried at
AT B depreciated cost (iii) 2,109 2,271
35,460 53,880
BEWE Investment properties, carried
N EINIE - fif at fair value, with remaining
MHEWS - A +4Ek lease term of: 50 years or more
i (iv) 175,228 189,023
210,688 242,903
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1M #EWEREMBYE - BB
B ik i (1)
(c) 1 Ji B ¥F 7 (&)

T 18 i 2 Tl R 2 AR B B 2 2 I E H
s B ) 2 i

11 Investment properties and other property, plant

and equipment (continued)

(c) Right-of-use assets (continued)

The analysis of expense items or (reduction of expenses) in
relation to leases recognised in profit or loss is as follows:

2025 2024
$’000 $'000
o7 PR EE A 8 DU R A0 Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
by class of underlying asset:
Ffea Mz L KigF Ownership interests in
BT RERE £ land and buildings held for own use 282 282
FEA R Hihfl gy Other properties leased for own use 27,598 35,461
W T W Plant and machinery 787 849
28,667 36,592
T A E LS (55 6(a)TE) Interest on lease liabilities (note 6(a)) 2,305 3,679
PR A A B A Gain on early termination of leases (137) (1,979)
B 40 FH B A BA Y 2 Expense relating to short-term leases 321 89
AT S A E AT O B 45 7 Variable lease payments not included in
ABEAKNF ) the measurement of lease liabilities 3,891 11,969

BE-F_HE=A=+—HI4
B > fd A RE & 4% Jin1,370,0000G (=
Z VU AE 1 4,460,00070) © 7% & R
B RO B B R AR B A Y
AT EAT A B -

HENHESH B AEAAEA/ENS
B 20 A R EE 40 93 B B R 28 16(0)
NA9IE o

()  FFfF A M2 £t ST B A HERE

During the year ended 31 March 2025, additions to right-of-
use assets were $1,370,000 (2024: $4,460,000). This amount
primarily related to the capitalised lease payments payable

under new and renewed tenancy agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in notes 16(d) and 19

respectively.

()  Ownership interests in land and buildings held for own

fil

AAE B A — WAL s L
F o UIMEITED R SE RS 1 2 F 2k
W - AEE Y ER# (B
Fifi 42 B T HB 43 AN fig 43 F 4 i
i) BB R A o [l 2T
BRoEA NN B ERE R 2
AT A AT > B o) A B UM B
e 25 B A (B wH SR SN Y R A
Ah o 3 AT ] AR R AR B A TR
FF A S Y B o A BR BUN B
i 22 fim Al 8 5 58 1Y K T RT T B IR
i el 2 o

use

The Group holds an industrial building in Hong Kong for
its printing business, where its manufacturing facilities
are primarily located. The Group is the registered owner
of the property interests, including the whole or part
of undivided share in the underlying land. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire the property
interests from their previous registered owners, and there
are no ongoing payments to be made under the terms of
the land lease, other than payments based on rateable
values set by the relevant government authority. These
payments vary from time to time and are payable to the
relevant government authority.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(B3 H 3541 - 29 L4 #0857~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1 BEWERILMBYE - BB

11 Investment properties and other property, plant
and equipment (continued)

(c) Right-of-use assets (continued)

(i)

Other properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other
properties as its retail stores and offices through tenancy
agreements. The leases typically run for an initial period
of 1 to 3 years.

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the
Group leased a number of retail stores which contain
variable lease payment terms that are based on sales
generated from the retail stores and minimum annual
lease payment terms that are fixed. These payment terms
are common in retail stores in Hong Kong, Mainland
China and Macau where the Group operates. The
amounts of fixed and variable lease payments recognised
in profit or loss for the years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024 are summarised below:

2025 2024
$°000 $'000
fiE] 72 A5 3 Fixed payments 26,163 31,399
AT 5 ) AF K Variable payments 3,891 11,969
9 3Kk 4 Total payments 30,054 43,368
HoAh fH 6= (i) Other leases
A EE 1 R B A e 1 LB e — The Group leases plant and machinery under leases

FEHAFRIY > EHEEAEE
] A B A A K o

expiring from 1 to 5 years. None of the leases includes
variable lease payments.
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1M #EWEREMBYE - BB
B ik i (1)

(c) L&J#E 5 7E (H)

11 Investment properties and other property, plant
and equipment (continued)

(c) Right-of-use assets (continued)

(iv) &YWk (iv) Investment properties
A A A B B R — RO W The Group holds a commercial property in the
¥ DB G A KB B United Kingdom to earn rental income and/or capital
A HEAE - appreciation.
G — S E Investment properties — United Kingdom
AEEBYERS N S HA The Group is the registered owner of these property
N s M AR B L) B R g interests and obtained the right of use of the underlying
N B A A B 2 [ R A2 A A land through head lease signed between the freeholder of
340 BR - b %) (5 FHHE - 1) 2 1B the underlying land and the Group. Lump sum payments
FOHEE NIEAE B R 2R were made upfront to acquire the property interests from
TH OB AT o AR B by £ A the previous registered owner. The head lease of the
HHAMA T - THE Hb @ underlying land runs for an initial period of 125 years and
B FE AR AL A LA 2 AT s contain variable lease payment terms that are based on
B AT KR - i B AT B R rental income generated from subleases and minimum
TR [ 2 > 3 B 4 annual lease payment term are fixed and increased every
I — R LA e 5 A 4 o 10 years to reflect market rentals.
BE ZF TR ZF = During the year ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the
A=Zt—HIE#E > #ERLHH amounts of fixed and variable lease payments under the
JE B ] 5 FH B A 3k < B A A head lease are summarised below:
T
2025 2024
$’000 $'000
JE A 3K Fixed payments 779 771
CIE L ENE Variable payments 945 746
57 3K 4 Total payments 1,724 1,517
(d) BPZF_-WHERE _-F - 4F = (d) Details of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 March
ZF—H  KEHBEEYESFN 2024 and 2025 are as follows:
F
b H i 1 & AL
Location Existing use Term of lease
Nos. 42-43 Great Marlborough Street, London W1V, /N =M
The United Kingdom KA Long-term
Offices and lease
restaurants
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11 #EMEREBYE - BB
B ik i (B0

(e) %855 Bl 61 81 i 09 8 B¢ h £

ALEHUREHEH G EY S M
W A HE (CE N
oA HAMESERN
Ji£ Ty A A0 S 2 T K e E o A% JH AR
BN B AT A B A AT

11 Investment properties and other property, plant
and equipment (continued)

(e) Investment properties leased out under operating leases
The Group leases out investment properties under operating
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of 25 years
(2024: 25 years), with an option to renew the leases at which
time all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes
variable lease payments.

A G T AR A A T AR B 2 A AR B A

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable

130 R 1R I i 2 B A1 P B R A operating leases in place at the reporting date will be
o receivable by the Group in future periods as follows:
2025 2024
$’000 $'000
—4ER Within 1 year 6,963 7,748
— AR AH WA N After 1 year but within 2 years 7,905 6,824
WA AR H =4 A After 2 years but within 3 years 7,918 7,748
SARAR AT AR N After 3 years but within 4 years 5,079 7,761
VU AR 45 A0 AR I After 4 years but within 5 years 5,079 4,978
AR After 5 years 10,172 14,948
43,116 50,007
i & 12 Intangible assets
[Guy Laroche]  [Ashworth ]
W B W BE
Guy Laroche Ashworth B
trademark trademark Total
$°000 $°000 $°000
WA : Cost:
ﬁ’f~2:::$ﬂlﬁ —H- At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024,
CECNE=EA=Z+—H 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025
CERTIAENA— B R
=H=+—H 102,050 31,392 133,442
PEE T 3 Accumulated impairment losses:
REZEZ=FNA—H - At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and
gigﬂli A=t—HxR 1 April 2024
ZETIEMA—H - _ _
il (s 15 Impairment losses (5,000) - (5,000)
M-FZHEZA=Z+—H At 31 March 2025 (5,000) - (5,000)
Wi 1 Carrying amount:
ACECREZAS R At 31 March 2025 97,050 31,302 128,442
N ZEZME=H=+—H At 31 March 2024 102,050 31,392 133,442
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12 ¥ & & (8)

12 Intangible assets (continued)

85

[Guy Laroche ] #[ Ashworth | i 2 %l 45 /&
AT 4HE R )il R > NP AR BE B RESE T (n)IEH 2 &
FHBUR AR o

BB 2 BA MR G S A m s > A
B 2 A A B B AR I E
78 L E T AT 4R R AR B A AR IR
SR S PR IS AT T T B R A o

f WA ] J A A S R B A O

[Guy Laroche|#iI [ Ashworth | /& 2 4 Fil &
M [Guy Laroche | #1 [ Ashworth | 1 4 Bk
ES L A I

AR RER CECNE=ZH =+ —H
HE 7y L R R Y B 4 7 A B ) TR [ o B
Ty MR P (R 56 o A0 AT Ak (L f B e BR
RGP K A IR 2 ] R R A T A A T
A ) B 4 A TR A AT SO B A AR A
A9 (PR AB (B« o AR AR 2 3R i o T R A
W R AR o O R T P E ARG R
AR

Guy Laroche and Ashworth trademark are considered to have
indefinite useful lives and are accounted for in accordance with
accounting policy note 1(h).

Trademarks are regarded to have indefinite useful lives as they
either have no expiration or are renewable on a periodic basis with
the appropriate authority and there is no foreseeable limit to the
number of renewals and the period over which these assets are
expected to generate cash flows for the Group.

Impairment tests for trademarks with an indefinite useful economic life

Guy Laroche and Ashworth trademarks service Guy Laroche and
Ashworth worldwide operations respectively and are separately
identifiable.

At 31 March 2025 and 2024, the recoverable amounts of the cash-
generating units (“CGU”) to which the trademarks were allocated
are determined based on value-in-use calculations. The value-in-
use calculations of the CGUs were carried out by an external valuer,
Ravia based on cash flow projections prepared by management
covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond five-year period
are extrapolated using terminal growth rates. The following key
assumptions have been used for the value-in-use calculations:

2025

[ Guy Laroche ] [ Ashworth |

g [}

Guy Laroche Ashworth

trademark trademark

i B % Discount rate | 19.4% 16.7%

KA = % Terminal growth rate | 2% 2%
2024

[ Guy Laroche | [ Ashworth |

k3 [k

Guy Laroche Ashworth

trademark trademark

Jifli e Discount rate | 18.5% 16.6%

K AR R Terminal growth rate 2% 2%

BWEF R A =+—HILFE > R
£ T T Guy Laroche | 7 1 (4 3 (& 5
184 %1 55,000,00000 (& PU4E : ) -
SRR e YAl s AT 1 i = A ]
DR ot Y % 1 T g T 45 R ) AR R P AT ] R
5 AL A1 A 2B B0 — 25 0 B E 18 -

M4 [ Ashworth J A2 9 3 (B 0 > i —
FEoAEZA=Z+—H I FEE R
W REE (DA ) o HHERL
FR R AT A [ 4 B Y B o B S AT T S
PRATHE S T > R e B[ Ashworth | () 8 4
T2 A (o R TR (B (B R A A =R AR =
A=+—HM " Z WE=A=+—HH
CIR QTS I

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group recognized
an impairment loss on Guy Laroche trademark amounting to
$5,000,000 (2024: Nil). As the CGU has been reduced to its
recoverable amount, any adverse change in the assumptions used
in the calculation of recoverable amount would result in further
impairment losses.

Based on the impairment test for Ashworth trademark, no
impairment loss was recognised during the year ended 31 March
2025 (2024: Nil). Management believes that any reasonably
possible change in the key assumptions on which the measurement
of the recoverable amount is based would not cause the carrying
amount of the Ashworth CGU to exceed their recoverable amounts
at 31 March 2025 and 2024.
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13 & B 2@ % 13 Trading securities
2025 2024
$°000 $'000
F 08 S AE R AR £5 19 4 & = Financial assets measured at FVPL ‘
— FHs LLANIE LTl IR R R 5 — Unlisted non-equity securities outside ‘
Hong Kong 7,955 9,579
14 17 1% 14 Inventories
(a) B I BRI FE 2 G145 (a) Invent‘orws in the consolidated statement of financial position
comprise:
2025 2024
$’000 $’000
b Raw materials | 3,528 4,093
TE R Work in progress | 1,057 871
5 Finished goods | 27,231 33,222
! 31,816 38,186
(b)) HERBHBAH W EHAABBWHTE R (b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an
B ATF expense and included in profit or loss is as follows:
2025 2024
$°000 $'000
LB A7 5 2 SR Carrying amount of inventories sold | 59,184 73,148
17 B Uk Write-down of inventories | 2,674 -
17 B Bk 48 17 Reversal of write-down of inventories ! (3,619) (3,582)
! 58,239 69,566
135 1] 008 11 47 T2 A WD 2 A7 B0 TS i i The reversal of write-down of inventories made in prior years
B 72 B m] 22 o s T 5 | KR A ) T R arose due to an increase in the estimated realisable value
BB 1 - of certain garment merchandise as a result of a change in
consumer preferences.
15 ME W MR 3% B B fib HE e 3k 15 Trade and other receivables
2025 2024
$°000 $’000
JARE W Trade debtors 14,930 19,716
B e R A Less: loss allowance (3,534) (2,859)
11,396 16,857
i &~ FE AT 3R K At HE i R Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 14,931 14,334
g ERRAE A (K 3£ 4520(a)H)  Employee retirement benefits (note 20(a)) 2,056 1,728
28,383 32,919
o3 At JE Wiz 3K 55 750,0000C (& U A4F ¢ All of the Group’s trade and other receivables, apart from other
750,0007C) A - 7 & ] it A i B ok B H receivables of $750,000 (2024: $750,000), are expected to be
At 8 SR T B AT — A T i [ B8 A R 2 recovered or recognised as expense within one year.
H o
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15 ME W R 2% B b BE UK 7k () 15 Trade and other receivables (continued)

HEARRA WA BERIEZ F0ER k8 At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
) AR RS 2R T debtors (net of loss allowance) based on invoice date is as follows:
2025 2024
$’000 $'000
— i w Within 1 month 9,321 14,449
— A EE A8 A RN Over 1 month but within 2 months 211 563
ZAEA R EH=EA R Over 2 months but within 3 months 807 578
“MMAEE AR Over 3 months but within 12 months 1,057 1,267
11,396 16,857

JEW IR R EFEAMEN =T ZEILTHRN Trade debtors are due within 30 days to 90 days from the date of
F - AL EAE S EUR 2 — 2 FEE R billing. Details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note 23(a).

W5 H523(a)HH o

16 4 RBALE5EMY X EMB 16 Cash and cash equivalents and other cash flow

4 i ' o information
(a) BERFEFEMEYEIT - (a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
2025 2024
$°000 $'000
AT Z R Deposits with banks 50,268 58,910
SRATAE A I & Cash at bank and on hand 43,405 44,487
Bl I B4 S 18 Cash and cash equivalents 93,673 103,397
FPABLE RS F BN GREELY Included in the balance of cash and cash equivalents is
347,0007C (& —JU4F : 8,726,000 an amount of $347,000 (2024: $8,726,000) representing
JG) o £y A [ H BN MR AT AT Renminbi Yuan deposits placed with banks in Mainland China
BN R HE A7 2R o 48 A B A Hb o 4 RE by the Group. The remittance of these funds out of Mainland
B A > ZEAESF R B B Y A [ China is subject to the exchange controls imposed by the
Bl o PRC government.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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16 L& KB E&EFHEY K3

16 Cash and cash equivalents and other cash flow

VAN AN ET A (b) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash generated from
2B g operations:
B 5 E 2025 2024
Note $°000 $'000
W B il G 15 Loss before taxation (24,361) (6,031)
FEIEE - Adjustments for:
PR B AT 2 2 Interest income on financial
S RlE E 2 A B IR A assets measured at amortised
cost 5 (2,367) (2,445)
WM E - RE K Gain on disposal of other
R A 2 0 A property, plant and equipment 5 (683) 2)
EMEEENEZEIFIE  Gain on disposal of trading
securities 5 (67) (23)
(=8 Yk P i) Change in fair value of trading
o8 FAE 2 s securities 5 (59) (109)
Rl & R AR Finance costs 6(a) 2,352 3,722
s Depreciation 6(c) 31,644 39,895
@< g7/E KN TFi Valuation losses on investment
properties 11(a) 17,450 -
Y & A 2 W (E R 1R Impairment losses on intangible
assets 6(c) 5,000 -
P2 HT £ R B e Gain on early termination of
leases 5 (137) (1,979)
Gl Al Gain on deregistration of
subsidiaries 5 (1,917) 9
FE 5 (U 45) /18 Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (165) 2,255
BEE G Changes in working capital:
R, () Decrease/(increase) in inventories 6,370 (4,654)
T4 % 40D Decrease in rental deposits 4,741 1,214
JFRE A S 2 ik Decrease in trade debtors 5,399 2,465
Fie 4~ TAAS 3K B H: A B U (Increase)/decrease in deposits,
= wb prepayments and other
receivables (871) 1,248
JRE A R A ek D Decrease in trade creditors (256) (3,167)
S fth 8 AT 35 B B 5 2 (Decrease)/increase in other
(W) /88 payables and accrued charges (4,765) 5,940
G AR ) B (Decrease)/increase in contract
liabilities (896) 2,534
JRE A 1B A ) R ek oD Decrease in amounts due to
related companies (5) (24)
WEEBEEZHE Cash generated from operations 36,407 40,830
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& -

4w E PR o8

(c) Hiih 25 3% ) 7 2k 2 il 0 ¢
7% 42 B [ O B T 7 A S T
B BIEH A RIS O
T % o TS B Ak S
T RS B 2 BOR AR B A 0 AR
SRR EE S > G5 R MG B
Z A .

16 Cash and cash equivalents and other cash flow
information (continued)

(¢) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the consolidated cash flow statement as cash
flows from financing activities.

2025 2024
ALLE £1 4% GEN=S=KT
Lease k] Lease RLE ]
liabilities Total liabilities Total
$°000 $’000 $'000 $'000
WHAEH) At the beginning of the
year 65,021 65,021 63,057 63,057
WEBEWED - Changes from financing
cash flows:
B HEMS Capital element of lease
AT rentals paid (30,667) (30,667) (35,699) (35,699)
B EMS Interest element of lease
ST 4y rentals paid (2,305) (2,305) (3,679) (3,679)
g R E A E  Total changes from financing
cash flows (32,972) (32,972) (39,378) (39,378)
[ b, 3 e Exchange adjustment 226 226 (676) (676)
Hofb s mh - Other changes:
FILE S Interest expenses (note 6(a))
(B} 5145 6(a)H) 2,305 2,305 3,679 3,679
AR RGBT 2 Increase in lease liabilities
GERES=E )l from entering into new
leases during the year 1,370 1,370 5,211 5,211
A — EER Adjustment — lease
modifications 14,270 14,270 35,107 35,107
FEHTAC IR A Early termination of lease (5,492) (5,492) (1,979) (1,979)
12,679 12,679 41,342 41,342
AR R At the end of the year 44,728 44,728 65,021 65,021
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16 HERBALEEY X HEMB 16 Cash and cash equivalents and other cash flow

4w B 'R (s information (continued)
(d) Bl B F &5 H 48 3 (d) Total cash outflow for leases
HEBHsERELEPEEU TTHEZ & Amounts included in the consolidated cash flow statement for
o leases comprise the following:
2025 2024
$°000 $'000
HEEREHSHE Within operating cash flows 4,212 12,829
HEEMEH SR = Within financing cash flows 32,972 39,378
37,184 52,207
17 HE £ Wk sk B 3 fb KE 4 5 17 Trade and other payables
2025 2024
$°000 $'000
JREAH I 3K Trade creditors 10,257 10,549
A JRE AT 3K % TE AT 2 Other payables and accrued charges 27,422 31,993
JREAST B 2 W] 3KIH Amounts due to related companies 132 137
37,811 42,679
JRE AST B K B L At JBE AT B IR B I A 4 R TE All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled within
Wi —FNEE - one year.
JREASH BR8N W] K OTE A R AT e B iR The amounts due to related companies are unsecured, interest-free
HAENEE - and repayable on demand.
BEARBA IR H - WA R AT 98 At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
WIFEE R A 2 IEE A R creditors based on invoice date is as follows:
2025 2024
$’°000 $'000
—f@ AN Within 1 month 6,059 9,031
—MM AU EHE=MALRN Over 1 month but within 3 months 1,181 1,280
=MEA L EHANEA R Over 3 months but within 6 months 107 105
R 7S H Over 6 months 2,910 133
10,257 10,549
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W AR 18 Contract liabilities
2025 2024
$°000 $'000
THIE K Receipts in advance
=i — Third parties 3,501 3,933
— BT - Related company 195 587
3,696 4,520

3 K8 e B 5[] B0 WU RO BN — B
R T

A A A 2 R e AR 2 A ] e T
%P CBCEAK o A B R A A ] B

Typical payment terms which impact the amount of contract
liabilities recognised are as follows:

The Group receives advances from certain customers in connection
with the licensing arrangements and the provision of security

HECBEITELS L - printing. These advances are recognised as contract liabilities until
the performance obligations are completed.
EEEENEE Movements in contract liabilities
2025 2024
$°000 $'000
HAEB) At the beginning of the year 4,520 1,997
HAE N HERRAE VIR A B VB Decrease in contract liabilities as a result
Wi i T A5 G TR A AR D of recognising revenue during the year
that was included in the contract liabilities
at the beginning of the year (4,089) (1,200)
A N R R B B AR A EDR] Increase in contract liabilities as a result
% P CREGK TS S AW A of receiving advances from customers
Hm during the year in respect of the licensing
arrangements and provision of security
printing 3,258 3,734
FE 5, 3 Exchange adjustments 7 (11)
AR At the end of the year 3,696 4,520

Ji A FE WO IH TR R I — 4F U RERR A ©

All receipts in advance are expected to be recognised as income
within one year.
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Lease liabilities

At 31 March 2025 and 2024, the lease liabilities were repayable as

(a) 1 K B th # I

A A T Y i IR A s O M S B AT
BB 2 B 5E > AR IR s COR A 15
1)) B ) 2 A B w7 i ) M B Rt
B (Mmf S sr# ) - WRESFH T —
TH A gOR R EH & > B Z 5t A
BEEHE WA e H o EE X
& B & HI R B A B U A Z25%0mH #%
FHEIVEH R A A RIRA Z LR
£530,0007C - 7] #% st #4E 1 2 3Ty
R IR 5% & o

AR > AERIN A A S B R
) P R 4 A e P B S AR AR R ) 2 (R
B sz wZnt 8 o % wt# LUl 5 AR &
wh #2277 XA > Mes g B R AT A &
A% A WOE A AR A B R A
BB e 2 R PO T A SR 4R 1 E
&2 BB R R T -

TE FF B A M EE T 2 B TR S F 22
FR B B A R R A A B AR 2 R E
OB PR AR B o 52 % B ROR S AT I A
B INER o ez Ek# R b 2 ks B
IFF i & o

— [HIAE & ¥ ML 2 W & 23 R AR5 5
(B R M) 2 B — JHUR 7E AR AR AR
wt# o aZ B AR AR AR K
B WORA A A g
ffi 2 (it & wh ) 1958 [ 8 B 48
GINE§

HIEERE  fiEAaEEERDT follows:
2025 2024
$°000 $'000
—A4ERAA Within 1 year 21,421 33,573
— AR E AR R After 1 year but within 2 years 5,162 11,178
ZHEBRERER After 2 years but within 5 years 6,350 7,945
TLAEAR After 5 years 11,795 12,325
23,307 31,448
44,728 65,021
e B8 kA 20 Post-employment benefits

(a) Employee retirement benefits

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under
the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.
The MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of $30,000. Contributions to the scheme vest immediately.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Exempted ORSO Scheme in Hong Kong for those employees
who were eligible to participate in the scheme. This scheme
is operated in a way similar to the MPF scheme, except that
when an employee leaves the scheme prior to his/her interest
in the Group’s employee contributions vesting fully, the
ongoing contributions payable by the Group are reduced by
the relevant amount of forfeited employer’s contributions or
refunded to the employer.

Subsidiaries established in Mainland China participate in the
defined contribution retirement schemes operated by the PRC
government for employees in Mainland China. Contributions
to these schemes are charged to profit or loss when incurred.
Contributions to the schemes vest immediately.

A subsidiary established in Taiwan participates in a defined
benefit retirement plan established in accordance with the
local Labour Standards Law. The scheme is not material to
the Group and, therefore, the disclosures required by HKAS
19, Employee benefits, have not been presented.
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20 @ BB kN (s

(a)

(b)

1 5 2B 1k # 7 (&)

oAb AE A v B A K B DL AL ]
T RE I 55 O ST 2 M 4 R AR
HEHE R A RE IR 2 BSE > B0 E B
T i B AR 2 B E HFORIREE B - 5%
St B EFOR SOA R AR AR A ER o 19
%t AR 2 PR R iy o

R IR % = A F

R 45 5 5 R I e 19 > e TAE UL >
T2 R 2D HAEM AR 8 A1
EAEREMRES Z5BHaEFATL
(SE SN R =W TR 8 T =
TE 75+ ok Bk DL b Y AF 4 B - B R
A 5 TR 0% T 7 BRI 7 B M 4% R S
A o =W IRF & 0 AT 4 RE T AR 9
1B 8 & & ¥ & (LR &22,50000) K&
TR A5 4 0 > IR AR 4 ] S 5 R 4
A EE ST B MR EEN
B BE R > GAEB WA LR %
390,0007G » H H » 4 4 M 3l & #h
17 H= 01 IR B 4 AT 1 53 57 AT ] 48 57
G e

TR T TAERA S BUN T EE T
] > foe A I IR 5 R s 8 T
9 58 M 13t RO D R AT A s i B
1 = 393 1 5 < 1 i 2 HE A o BURT B AR
LA AE R  F R H R AR R e
Sb > BOR IR T A — TEE Bl

TE I 365 v A8 4% 2 A = 4R 1A S 4R -

RN RUGTERUE: YEe € I e
A HG o A o A e A R (I
RG] HOAT - H B2 AR AR AR
Jor i A B AT ] B G M A o DA D A
H 1% 8 B M B 4 & W ) i &= 309 ik %5
G o SR - i fE SR H AT E BE
SR > B T A AR T bt R
i 9 70 2 W ORE A B IR S AR
Kt R MR 05 4 5 BbAh > R H AT
AL IR 5 47 W K iR 0 IR S < 4 AR
BB RS HAT A T R
il FRG B 4 RS o

20 Post-employment benefits (continued)

(a)

(b)

Employee retirement benefits (continued)

Subsidiaries established in other jurisdictions other than
Hong Kong, Mainland China and Taiwan participate in the
defined contribution retirement schemes operated by the local
government for employees in accordance with the ruling in
the relevant jurisdictions. Contributions to these schemes are
charged to profit or loss when incurred. Contributions to the
schemes vest immediately.

Long service payment liabilities

Hong Kong employees that have been employed continuously
for at least five years are entitled to long service payments
(“LSP”) in accordance with the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance under certain circumstances. These circumstances
include where an employee is dismissed for reasons other
than serious misconduct or redundancy, that employee
resigns at the age of 65 or above, or the employment contract
is of fixed term and expires without renewal. The amount of
LSP payable is determined with reference to the employee’s
final salary (capped at $22,500) and the years of service,
reduced by the amount of any accrued benefits derived
from the group’s contributions to MPF scheme or ORSO
plans, with an overall cap of $390,000 per employee and
the abolition of the offsetting mechanism with effect from 1
May 2025. Currently, the Group does not have any separate
funding arrangement in place to meet its LSP obligation.

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the Amendment
Ordinance, which will eventually abolish the statutory right
of an employer to reduce its LSP payable to a Hong Kong
employee by drawing on its mandatory contributions to the
MPF scheme. The Government has subsequently announced
that the Amendment Ordinance will come into effect from the
Transition Date. Separately, the Government is also expected
to introduce a subsidy scheme to assist employers after the
abolition.

Among other things, once the abolition of the offsetting
mechanism takes effect, an employer can no longer use
any of the accrued benefits derived from its mandatory MPF
contributions (irrespective of the contributions made before, on
or after the Transition Date) to reduce the LSP in respect of an
employee’s service from the Transition Date. However, where
an employee’s employment commenced before the Transition
Date, the employer can continue to use the above accrued
benefits to reduce the LSP in respect of the employee’s
service up to that date; in addition, the LSP in respect of the
service before the Transition Date will be calculated based
on the employee’s monthly salary immediately before the
Transition Date and the years of service up to that date.
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20 Post-employment benefits (continued)

()

Long service payment liabilities (continued)

The Group has accounted for the offsetting mechanism and
its abolition as disclosed in note 1(qg)(ii).

The Group has determined that the Amendment Ordinance
primarily impacts the Group’s LSP liability with respect to
Hong Kong employees that do not participate in the Group’s
ORSO plans. The Amendment Ordinance has no material
impact on the Group’s LSP liability with respect to employees
that participate in the group’s ORSO plans.

The present value of LSP liability and its movements are as
follows:

2025 2024

$°000 $’000

AWAH—H At 1 April 1,196 649
A il 2 i 2% 1 Remeasurements recognised in other

Wl - comprehensive income:

Fop R IR S Remeasurement of provision of LSP 254 -
T AEIEMEN : Expenses recognised in profit or loss:

7 M R 5 A Current service cost 170 504

LS B A Interest cost 47 43

217 547

W=ZA=1+—H At 31 March 1,667 1,196

= 1 M 5 < {30 0 I - 3% 55 A Ty ]
BT AR o

HOZOR SR (LU R~ 2 Bk R ) 1
UK AT

The weighted average duration of the LSP liability is 14 years.

Significant actuarial assumptions (expressed as weighted
averages) and sensitivity analysis are as follows:

2025 2024

o2 Discount rate 2.92% to 38.64% 3.53% to 4.30%

KA F S Future salary increases 2.20% 2.50% to 3.40%
TE RN AT K v A 4 BA Expected investment return on off

TRE i 119 150 [l settable MPF accrued benefits 4.15% 3.53% to 4.30%

A A T ) 4= 0 A 4 AT S LR 5T
BB > RORIEAT BUR I AT -

The Group’s LSP obligations are not sensitive to these
actuarial assumptions, thus a sensitivity analysis is not
presented.
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21 5 & W % R M #F P -~ 2 21 Income tax in the consolidated statement of

Pi 7 B financial position
(a) #% G B B M0 £ Pr o 2 KB Pr 14 (a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial

B2 position represents:

2025 2024
$’000 $'000

T AT B E A Balance relating to Hong Kong Profits Tax (260) (302)

AHE : Analysed as follows:

A3 AT AR (v B T Current tax recoverable (322) (339)

A 1A A B TE Current tax payable 62 37

(260) (802)
(b)) CHEREERIEEENRAEF - (b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

() B RAR G BABIR O£ TR 2 IR T () The components of deferred tax liabilities/(assets)
BIEAME S CEE) A ER 0 A< recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
ERESEI T position and the movements during the year are as

follows:
HHYEZ
Vi RbimZ
W %
Temporary
difference
between
depreciation
and the related
depreciation 4l B
allowances Provisions Total
$°000 $°000 $°000
EERIERHA : Deferred tax arising from:
BB ZHENH—H At 1 April 2023 704 109 813
fE 52, 8 Exchange adjustments - 6) (6)
TR RE (GFA) /B (Credited)/charged to profit
(B 5% 557 () 1) or loss (note 7(a)) 67) 148 81
REZZWAE=ZA=1+—H At 31 March 2024 and
B _NAENA—H 1 April 2024 637 251 888
TEH#ERD (FEA) /HBR  (Credited)/charged to profit
(Bft 55 557 (2) JH) or loss (note 7(a)) (52) 128 76
REZFZHAEZA=Z1+—H At 31 March 2025 585 379 964
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21 5 A& W % R M # P 2~ 2 21 Income tax in the consolidated statement of

P 13 B (50) financial position (continued)
(b) EHEREERIEELE,/AE: (4H) (b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (continued)
(i) TR LA BRI R (i)  Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial
position
2025 2024
$°000 $'000
TESR A W IR R A AR 2 Net deferred tax assets recognised
% 1 ol JE U VA in the consolidated statement of
financial position (18) (55)
TEf7 & B IR LR A R 2 Net deferred tax liabilities recognised
0% S1E ol T O 1 in the consolidated statement of
financial position 982 943
964 888
(¢) KR AR IH G E (c) Deferred tax assets not recognised
IR 1 2 &R BUR > AR In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(r),
B R i 2 5T BLES K $H489,995,0007C the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of
(ZF Z U 4F : 500,366,00070) K F cumulative tax losses of $489,995,000 (2024: $500,366,000)
118,574,000 C B KMz 2 (= F and other temporary differences of $118,574,000 (2024:
VU AE £ 95,547,00070) fiE w8 £ 1 4E $95,547,000) as it is not probable that future taxable profits
BLIH G o F A SR ) R 2 R K ] B AE against which the assets can be utilised will be available in
A B B 75 A e [ 2 A m Ok D B R the relevant tax jurisdictions. The Group has not recognised
B JE SR B R R o A AR I K e R OBE I deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses, whose expiry
ARG E > HEw A T - dates are:
2025 2024
$°000 $'000
AN Within 5 years 56,651 57,664
FAELL EH AR More than 5 years but less than 10 years 13,029 15,832
TR BN A€ i Do not expire under current tax legislation 420,315 426,870
489,995 500,366
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22 B A ~ Gl M B B B 22 Capital, reserves and dividends
(a) FE 7 A 38 19 2 5 ) (a) Movements in components of equity
A A2 T A R A A AL S O 1 AT A The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances
ARG SRB IR A S SRR % - of each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set
A/ FHE £ AR A 45 AR B 43 19 AE W) B AR out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details
REHFHEHFWOT - of the changes in the Company’s individual components of
equity between the beginning and the end of the year are set
out below:
BA REERA
M 5E Share  Retained Pk
Note capital profits Total
$°000 $°000 $°000
BB _Z4ENH—H At 1 April 2023 383,909 56,818 440,727
REAREE ) Changes in equity:
AR B T 1 B A T W At 4R Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year - 672 672
A 47 B L A I AR AR B Dividend approved and paid in
respect of the previous year 22(b)(ii) - (16,586) (16,586)
REZFZMAEZA=+—HE At 31 March 2024 and
ZEMAENH—H 1 April 2024 383,909 40,904 424,813
Bl 2k 2 ) Changes in equity:
AR AR B2 Ml 48 M 2 T AL i 8 Loss and total comprehensive
income for the year - (2,327) (2,327)
A 47 BE A I A AR B Dividend approved and paid in
respect of the previous year 22(b)(ii) - (16,586) (16,586)
B2 _HE=ZA=1+—H At 31 March 2025 383,909 21,991 405,900
(b) BHE (b) Dividends
() AHFE B AL 2 A AR N 7 AE 25 () Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
S Company attributable to the year
2025 2024
$°000 $'000
AR IR H 1% 2w Uk Final dividend proposed after the end
AR S B 4 5 A 1 Ol of the reporting period of 10 cents
(= ZF U4 - &R104l) (2024: 10 cents) per ordinary share 16,586 16,586
ARG IR HZERSIRZ K The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting
HA B 1 R A A R K H R period has not been recognised as a liability at the end of
mHAfE - the reporting period.
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22 e A ~ Gl MK BB (80 22 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)
(b) BB (%) (b) Dividends (continued)
(i) AE A 1R B AT B B AN AR 2 R HE £ (i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
B TR IRE A I L (A A TR 24 i v Company attributable to the previous financial year,
K Eff) approved and paid during the year
2025 2024
$°000 $’000
WA B 2 KR B & @ Final dividend in respect of the previous
1Ol (2 A 4 TR S 4t o S financial year, approved and paid
BT (S U4 - &R0l during the year, of 10 cents
(2024: 10 cents) per ordinary share 16,586 16,586
(c) EFEHFRA (c) Issued share capital
2025 2024
JBe % i
No. of No. of
shares shares
(’000) $°000 ('000) $’000
BT BB A Ordinary shares, issued
I mE and fully paid:
AR KR At the beginning and the
end of the year 165,864 383,909 165,864 383,909
MR8 A v (A R 1) 561350k - AL In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies
A 2 A A S A T - Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the Company do not have a
par value.
A M A E REWCROR BB R 2 R The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends
B> B —B#A —ZAERNHA as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
G b2 BEEEAE - g N Ay A share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank
N FI R R G A R MR o equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.
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22 e A - fifi B B BB (8
(d) fEf 2 P R %

(e)

(i) AMBE ok e

B HEE fof 6 B4 60 B 7 4 LA A1 65
Tt 5 3R BT E AR 2 BT A RE B 22
B o % fok A AR DR R A S (u) T BT
2 rat O g B o

(i) Ak Rk

Al folt 1 R O AR BT
BAEF IR & BB e R
il BT E 2R 09 L B o R ol A AR B T
A1 () T 2 & BOR B o

] i 7 IR 7%

ATE CHFE=ZHAH=Z+—H B
FW (N A EBD FHeiB et H > AN
Al R IR T AR A B RRERE A N
fifh fH 48 %6 £521,991,00000 (—ZF 14
4 1 40,904,0007T) ° Bt A o B R
H#% > EHEERIRTEARMKEL T K
A O (= P AR 104l >
4 %6 1516,586,0007C (& P4 4 -
16,586,0007C) (P EE5522(b)()HE) -

(f) BB

AL MEAZ TEAELREA
4 1 900 A A A R A AR LR A
e 1 325 8 B JRL By K ~F- AR 3] 2 7 i B
e 5 7 R DA B 4% 5 B AS S AT
A 768 1% SR A [ ik By At ] 4 A
B & B 4

A4 F AR B B At I B A
ZEAE > DA 7 95 BB [l R 15 UL Rl
RE TRAT 2 o i 7K OF- B R AF AR DL
7 AE 2 B e B AR s 2 [ AR P
PRI 468 97 B 35 2 38 AL 3B A S A oy

e

WRARAT ] A S5 1 % 05 5
KB EA R R EA SN - 5
LT & A SR M 205 4 AR A E 2 A
5 (RLHE S 8B R 8 55 DL % At
MR I A TR AR R E AR k&R
FHEEIR BEE > Bl e KB EFHY -
A8 R A LA A AR 4k JF 2
FHEEIR S -

22 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

()  Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of operations outside Hong Kong. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting

policies set out in note 1(u).

(i)  Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve represents the surplus on
revaluation of land and buildings held for own use upon
change of use to investment properties. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set

out in note 1(g).

(e) Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2025, the aggregate amount of reserves available
for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company, as
calculated under the provisions of Part 6 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance was $21,991,000 (2024: $40,904,000).
After the end of the reporting period, the directors proposed a
final dividend of 10 cents (2024: 10 cents) per ordinary share,
amounting to $16,586,000 (2024: $16,586,000) (note 22(b)(i)).

(f) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and
services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing

access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between a higher
shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a
sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital

structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its
capital structure on the basis of an adjusted net debt-to-
capital ratio. For this purpose, the Group defines net debt
as total debt (which includes interest-bearing loans and
borrowings, trade and other payables and contract liabilities
and lease liabilities) plus unaccrued proposed dividends, less
cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all
components of equity less unaccrued proposed dividends.
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22 JBe AR ~ gl M B BB (1) 22 Capital, reserves and dividends (continued)
(f) BEAEH () (f) Capital management (continued)

A AL [ A A 4 BT AR R AR R TR The Group’s adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at the end of

) A8 R R B A LR AR the current and previous reporting periods was as follows:
{iF:3 2025 2024
Note $’000 $’000

MBI A Current liability:

& A Lease liabilities 19 21,421 33,573

e E) A fE Non-current liability:

& A Lease liabilities 19 23,307 31,448

(e F Total debt 44,728 65,021

o+ 358 IR 2 Add: Proposed dividends 22(b)() 16,586 16,586

W Bl KB aEEY Less: Cash and cash equivalents 16(a) (93,673) (103,397)

258 R 5 75 ¥ Adjusted net debt (82,359) (21,790)

HE i AERH Total equity 418,497 458,413

W BEUR IS Less: Proposed dividends 22(b)(i) (16,586) (16,586)

£ W e g AR Adjusted capital 401,911 441,827

58 W B A S R B B AR B R Adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio (8)% (5)%

Ay ] Ko HATAu] Bt Ji 2 7 39 AS 32 A1 B Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to

e i 2 A B E BRI o externally imposed capital requirements.
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23 &b e B AR K @ T HA
fe i

AL EEIER EFBEDHBGEE R
BB A AN 1 B o A 42 R R A
AR T 2 W S TR R R R
1% JE B

ASE W A B Ja B > 95 A DL BB R
B BRBOR ST IO PR A B R o

(a) 158 B
FERREE T rELEAEH HITE
YA 4 8 A S e 1R JEE

A AR T 9 15 5 B T AR AR WO K
Fe FCAbREWORRIR > M B 2 RAFH B
i 2 35 55 o ASE [ Bl KBl 4
B 4 T 2 A i B R B BRI 3
FOr A5 AP R 9 4R > A LR
T BERR B 05 R Ja B A

L ) E TS BEOR > 1 A B
i S B o AR S MBSIR UL K A
T <l 7 1 MR T A SR A BT B v
PN

4B 12 B AR A5 1 B i 35 36 £ 4
A o W A R K A o
ACSE B R £ £ B IR %
B P D i 5 26 T A A AR DL o AR
R EEMIE LG REESE
Slf7 48 v J3E 4 B 5 BT B o

0 R WA R e G At R e A TR T 5 0
G B RS RS T A FE R —E e
BRSO & P AT 15 LAl
AR 2 09 B A R s A I
B SCATRETT - W% R P R E R R
A R B 2 5 A8 48 T i ) A IS BRI AT IR
(5 2 o JE SR AR HE A &5 55 HR L+
RANENH - @H > AEEAERES
i S AR A

A PR Z 2 fFE R 2 & EF
TR A5 RO B - ARR T 2 EH AT
B FC 1 2 1) 7 4 JEL gy I 6 5 A
B> MEAEREW/N o UL > AL A&
TR SZ A R 55 2 R R B A R
e BB AR B Ja B o Y S AR
LB ZAE=ZA =+ —H > A H
5B B R A A 4R ) Y R AR K Y

F4p— o

23 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises
in the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group is also
exposed to price risk arising from the trading securities held by the
Group.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to manage
these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on

its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the
Group.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
other receivables, rental deposits and trading securities. The
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents is limited because the counterparties are banks
with sound credit rating, for which the Group considers to
have low credit risk.

Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures
to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Rental deposits represent deposits held by the landlords
of retail outlets and shopping malls with no recent history
of material defaults. The Group’s exposure to credit risk is
influenced mainly by the individual characteristic of each
landlord of retail outlets and shopping malls. The Group has
worked with a large number of landlords of retail outlets and
shopping malls and there is no significant concentration of
credit risk.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit
over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments when due and
current ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates. Trade debtors
are due within 90 days from the date of billing. Normally, the
Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customer operates and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk only arise if
the Group has significant exposure to individual customer.
At 31 March 2025 and 2024, no individual debtor with
outstanding balance exceeded 10% of the Group’s trade
debtors.
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23 & A AT B K4 .1 2A 23 Financial risk management and fair values of

oA (s) financial instruments (continued)
(a) 158 i (%) (a) Credit risk (continued)
A A [ D) AE i R A A R TEEHE The Group measures loss allowance for trade debtors
R S EE R E S EE AN E at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated
> BT E o | using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit
A 7 A T ) JRE A R R 1R A I R 3R loss experience does not indicate significantly different loss
W R R % 5 B 0 s 1R X A7 e i 3 = patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance
B PR A 0 IR R ) e 18 A A based on past due status is not further distinguished between
FE— S BOALEBEYAFREF B - the Group’s different customer bases.
A A T A BRI S R 1 L B K TR The following table provides information about the Group’s
fF R E RN~ RPN exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade debtors:
2025
R i A L
i FiER Gross 5B
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
$°000 $°000
A (Rt ) Current (not past due) 0.0% 9,321 -
8 At — 8 H Overdue within 1 month 0.0% 197 -
e (DS SR S N Overdue over 1 month but
within 3 months 0.0% 821 -
A =AW AR WA N Overdue over 3 months but
within 12 months 0.0% 1,057 -
B A\ A Overdue over 12 months 100% 3,534 (3,534)
14,930 (3,534)
2024
e T AL
R R Gross AR A
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
$’000 $°000
A (R I) Current (not past due) 0.0% 14,449 -
e A8 — i A Overdue within 1 month 0.0% 555 -
e — R A AE =@ AN Overdue over 1 month but
within 3 months 0.0% 587 -
=M AET AN Overdue over 3 months but
within 12 months 0.0% 1,266 -
e DK Overdue over 12 months 100% 2,859 (2,859)
19,716 (2,859)
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3 &M EBEEAE LSBT LA
o AE (&)

(a)

(b)

15 & b (4
A TR R WSO AR Y s R A AR A B A T

23 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(@)

Credit risk (continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade
debtors during the year is as follows:

2025 2024

$’000 $'000
AR At the beginning of the year 2,859 2,054
[ifE b, 78] & Exchange adjustments (10) (26)
L Al R I [ e 1R Impairment losses recognised 685 831
RAER At the end of the year 3,534 2,859
i) & % I BE (b) Liquidity risk

445 1 (5902 B 20 1 4 2 24 B
ST LRI S R R R
T PR DL RE A TR 2 B 7K (e
1545 2 L 2 B 2 B KT
iR A A o A
R 7 0 ) W e 7 oK By
OSSN+ LLRE (R L4 5 2 20
R PEGET I T P
R VR B - DU LR S 2
W 4ok o

AR AAS S B AR o IOR H R AT AR
B AR 2 Bk R I BR AR AT
AR S F R R B SR & (6
568 & 2 R 515 2 FILB AT 35 i
SRR AR AS S H IR 2 B 5 ED)
AR A B2 T AT REZRUA K 2 dee L H O R
o

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to
cover expected cash demands, subject to the approval by
the Company’s board when the borrowings exceed certain
predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s policy is to
regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants (if any), to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities
at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s non-
derivative financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay.
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23 & A AT B K4 .1 2A 23 Financial risk management and fair values of

oA (s) financial instruments (continued)
(b) i B & 2 W 57 (A7) (b)  Liquidity risk (continued)
2025
IR W B B4 th

Contractual undiscounted cash outflows

—4EY Lk WD L
—AER EARRE  BARLAE
Bi@%  Morethan  More than

Within 1 year but 2 years but TN L i
1 year or less than less than  More than ik Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount
$°000 $°000 $°000 $'000 $°000 $'000
HE R HR K Trade creditors 10,257 - - - 10,257 10,257
oAt 3K Other payables and
T AT 2 accrued charges 27,422 - - - 27,422 27,422
AT B Amounts due to
YNGIE ¢ related companies 132 - - - 132 132
HEAE Lease liabilities 22,550 5,741 8,324 71,909 108,524 44,728
60,361 5,741 8,324 71,909 146,335 82,539
2024
ARSI &%
Contractual undiscounted cash outflows
—4E R
—fER BERRWE  EARLE
SEM  Morethan  More than
Within 1 yearbut 2 years but HAE L AR
1 year or less than lessthan  More than Fk) Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount
$'000 $'000 $'000 $000 $'000 $'000
HE R HR K Trade creditors 10,549 - - - 10,549 10,549
oAb R Other payables and
T AT % accrued charges 31,993 - - - 31,993 31,993
AT B Amounts due to
YNGIE O related companies 137 - - - 137 137
g A H Lease liabilities 35,402 11,936 9,158 72,185 128,681 65,021
78,081 11,936 9,158 72,185 171,360 107,700
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(c) FI3E B
7 4 ) 2 R S B R AL B
o I 5 S B0 L A 4 A A
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(i) AR

TRFEIIA G S A R
WIR B Z M AL

23 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(c) Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from lease
liabilities. Lease liabilities at fixed rates expose the Group to
the fair value interest rate risk. The Group’s interest rate profile
as monitored by management is set out below:

()  Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of the
Group’s borrowings at the end of the reporting period.

2025 2024
A % AR %
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate rate
% $’000 % $’000
I 5 AR AG £ - Fixed rate borrowings:
T AR Lease liabilities 5.15 44,728 5.66 65,021
I8 72 ) A R 4% Fixed rate borrowings as
B AAREN H A a percentage of total
borrowings 100% 100%

(i) BURSE DT

MNoFE-RHE=ZA=1+—H &
BT AT A A LR R RN AR R R
LT F BE1001E 35 B A 51
B SO SE ) 2 B B AR s 1R R
B R (T AR A A
S AR A S 0 I UL R Al RE AT
FlZ 2T B AT 1001H B F
AL W 2 BR PR I 1R AR
FIREBERK) - 545 HE 2 2 HoAth
TGS Er R R R E
Kok 1 7 2 FY 2 o

Rl AR G A S A A I 2 B
Bt A& it A o 18 (S PR B i )
R 1) 3 A 8 i 2 AR 2 47 A FILE
S SR R AR A R - 2 F
VAR Y A A% [R] — R TEEAT

(i)  Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2025, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, would have insignificant
impact to Group’s loss after tax and retained profits
(2024: increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant, would have
insignificant impact to Group’s loss after tax and retained
profits). Other components of consolidated equity would
not be affected in response to the general increase/
decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the impact on
the Group’s profit or loss after tax (and retained profits)
that would arise assuming that there is an annualised
impact on interest expense or income of such a change
in interest rates. The analysis is performed on the same
basis for 2024.
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(d) SF % BE

23 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)
(d)

Currency risk

ALEW B2 SRR EEAA
WO A Gy B 2 AR (A% 52 5 3l JF
VA B 3685 < T e & W AT) J B
2 MEWSCHR K~ B AT B I B &5 A
Sl B IR B 2 B E B Ko~ K
8~ WOtk AR -

BBV U B SE T - A LR TE DY 58
JC 5 #E T Y BE SN0 AN AT O
e 558 7 32 7T B S B L Bl o SR T
T A o A S T B L A R
HRAEH) 2 JR B o G R A Y K Al
THUL o A B8 7 0 Ty 12 B B R
R AN o DU GRS 1 L B R A A
£ A $2 3 B K-

AL 2 EEYLERE R TR
Z e B R - S Ih e B W A
T AL T > L T e TR
{E o Rt > A5 B NI A TE AR 4R 1 2
R W AL T E R 2 AR R o

() &2 AN R R

ARG B AR R A
P& 32 2 A0 W R > 5% 45 S0 L
B 75 IR B 5 B 2 e R R
B DL T i W DL A 2 B
(BT AR o LAY R H A - AN
JE B FE DA &5 A H 2 B M e 4 B
P TBR o WA 2 BB
P& A A SR B 2 TR | T
A 2 22 R AN ELAE AE I o

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales
and purchases which give rise to receivables, payables and
cash balances that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e.
a currency other than the functional currency of the operations
to which the transactions relate. The currencies giving rise
to this risk are primarily United States dollars (“USD”), Pound
Sterling (“GBP”), Euros and Renminbi Yuan.

As the Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) is pegged to the USD,
management does not expect any significant movements in
the USD/HKD exchange rate and considers the exposure
to foreign currency risk in relation to the USD to be low.
However, management acknowledges that it is exposed to
fluctuations in the exchange rate for other currencies and the
Group ensures that the net exposure is kept to an acceptable
level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates
where necessary to address short-term imbalances.

All the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the functional
currency of the entity taking out the loan or, in the case of the
Group’s entities whose functional currency is HKD, in either
HKD or USD. Given this, management does not expect that
there will be any significant currency risk associated with the
Group’s borrowings.

(i)  Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the entity to which
they relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of
the exposures are shown in HKD, translated using the
spot rate at the year end date. Differences resulting from
the translation of the financial statements of operations
outside Hong Kong into the Group’s presentation
currency are excluded.

RZARE (DhiLsln)

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in HKD)

EIn Sk Bt N
United States Dollars Pound Sterling Euros Renminbi Yuan
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
$'000 $000 $'000 $'000 $000 $'000 $000 $000
JEIES S Trade and other
HAbEYGL  receivables - - - - - 103 - -
Bak Cash and cash
RAE%EY  equivalents 6,504 4,063 10 6,233 | 18,197 2,451 4,158 304
FERBER K Trade and other
HifEMF  payables and
LAFAR  contract liabiities | (2,382)  (2,332) - - (6,242)  (3,928) (611) (617)
4,172 1,731 10 6,233 6,955 (1,374) 3,547 (313)
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3 &M EBEEAE LSBT LA
o AE (&)

(d) S K (4 )

(i

TR 70

AR BN R i A SR H AR 4
P R A KL B B B BE R
W% A ) IR A A R AR AR A
5 BAREE I BA B (&R
B i A 7E AR Y B IR S AL o BE R
it > AL EE# Tk ELZ
fH] 2 b g ME 32 52 52 e 3 LAt B

23 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(d) Currency risk (continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change
in the Group’s loss after tax (and retained profits) that
would arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group
has significant exposure at the end of the reporting
period had changed at that date, assuming all other
risk variables remained constant. In this respect, it
is assumed that the pegged rates between the HKD

2 TS5 ) 5 B EL A - and the USD would be materially unaffected by any
changes in movement in value of the USD against other
currencies.

2025 2024
EHZ WS/ ERZWD/
(Hm) % () K
PREHRA 2 REGEAZ
B/ (%%) (8 /B
W% LA/ Decrease/ BT/ Decrease/
(F) (increase) in (T &) (increase) in
Increase/ loss after tax Increase/ loss after tax
(decrease) and increase/ (decrease) and increase/
in foreign (decrease) in in foreign (decrease) in
exchange rates  retained profits exchange rates retained profits
% $'000 % $'000
Yok Pound Sterling 5 1 5 312
(5) (1) (o) (312)
o Euros 5 348 5 (69)
(5) (348) (5) 69
N Renminbi Yuan 5 177 5 (16)
(5) (177) (5) 16

P B B SRR BE Ay BT AR AR AR
P 5 WS AR R LA
TREEWAE (BEHRAN . C
AR WIOR B2 T 26 50 R 5
TO) ZRAE T R B s 18 A0 B 4R
Z BV A R S

R 43 7 £ B 51 o 2 5
B LR T A S B
S A R 9 8 9 7
Shg B 2 4 TR < B AT
LI L SIS 2 S W
LR SR B 2 2 51 BT
2 Y o =R A 5
LT -

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on each of the Group entities’ loss after tax and equity
measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into HKD at the exchange rate ruling at the
end of the reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-measure
those financial instruments held by the Group which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk at the end of
the reporting period. The analysis excludes differences
that would result from the translation of the financial
statements of operations outside Hong Kong into the
Group’s presentation currency. The analysis is performed
on the same basis for 2024.
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L B EOED B AR H xR B
BLTE AR L DA RS I i B &

sk o

W ECRAEZA = —H > g
AEMBRBIAREBMOEEE HE 2
H S ) T (E B 0 s 5% (& Y
A B5%) o T T AT A R AN A
) 3 o =g 0 A 4R T B B AR i 18 R
i B8 %5 #1398,0000C (—F L PY 4F -
479,0007C) ° A HrfE & VA DL AR
] ) 2 R A AT o

(f) A xfa#
() 2~REARZEMEREXAMN

LT IH A

AR [ 4 TR 2 AN S A AR
HEWIR B R - B
EEE Mgz EEn R Gl
WS e ) 51398 T A fE
S ) I BLE B S AN ol R
55 5 > (50 A (BT R i A B
PR (BRI ESE11(0)()H) -
WA AL R FHE B B8R A
i B i (R ) RF - A
PP Mg 25 R S
WA o

AR E F A K F U4
SHEF - HIEAE S RS
BRLAE 2 [ oA Bl
AR = A SRS o AR 42 Y
TR A AR OB Y i I R e R
APINIER L Sl 0L S5 A

(i) UARMBEUSIAIRZ @ TR
NV

Fiv A7 Ho At DL S8 9 B A 510 R 22 6
LB MR T (R B % AR K
FOMWE=ZA=Z+—HZARMHE
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24 EKBBALES

R T A A S 3 KL At 3 D T 48 B 2 58
Ty B S BR AN 5 A% SR [ BELE R B Mg N L3 AT
PR 5 e

(a) FHEEBANANX 5

G R EE AW BANTZESR
W Y B E SR BIH R -

23 Financial risk management and fair values of
financial instruments (continued)

(e) Pricerisk

The Group is exposed to price changes arising from the
trading securities (see note 13).

Decisions to buy or sell trading securities are based on daily
monitoring of the performance of the securities compared to
the expectations, as well as the Group’s liquidity needs.

At 31 March 2025, it is estimated that an increase or decrease
of 5% (2024: 5%) in the market value of the Group’s trading
securities, with all other variables held constant, would
have decreased or increased the Group’s loss after tax and
retained profits by $398,000 (2024: $479,000). The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2024.

(f) Fair value measurement

(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
Fair value hierarchy

The fair value of the Group’s financial instruments
are measured at the end of the reporting period on a
recurring basis. The fair value of the trading securities
falls within Level 2 of the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement,
based on the inputs used in the valuation technique
(see note 11(b)(i)). The unadjusted net asset value of
the trading securities is used when the units in a fund
are redeemable at the reportable net asset value at, or
approximately at, the measurement date.

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to
recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy
at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

(i)  Fair values of financial instruments carried at other than
fair value

All other financial assets and liabilities carried at
amortised cost are carried at amounts not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 March 2025 and
2024.

24 Material related party transactions

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in
these consolidated financial statements, the Group entered into the
following material related party transactions.

(a) Transactions with key management personnel

All members of key management personnel are the directors
of the Company, and their emoluments are disclosed in
note 8.
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24 EKBBALRES (8
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(b)

(c)

(M=
T3[R
RE

ITRAREM]) (RAFETESF
I £ % VL A 4 ) S A 4 [ 2
W) L KCitimark Trading Limited

(I Citimark TradingJ) (44 [ 2 B %

24 Material related party transactions (continued)

(b) Transactions with and amounts paid to Yangtzekiang
Garment Limited and its subsidiaries (“Yangtzekiang Garment
Group”) (certain directors of the Company are collectively the
controlling shareholders of both the Yangtzekiang Garment
Group and the Group) and Citimark Trading Limited (“Citimark

AT HEAT 228 5y Bt eSO N BB - Trading”) (related company of the Group):
B 5E 2025 2024
Note $’000 $°000
R R ARER - Yangtzekiang Garment Group:
[N &S Purchases of garment products 0] 244 767
EAT K AT 2 4 Rental expenses paid and payable in
respect of properties (i) 3,000 4,320
B A Je e A 45 B Management fees paid and payable (ii) 780 780
B AT e AR O A Building management fees paid and
payable (i) 920 130
Citimark Trading: Citimark Trading:
5 s A Al Royalty income received (iii) 975 -
B A T Sales of garment products (iii) 3,831 -
REH =1 —HEM BE=H=1—HIk
74 1 17 A 3 i
Amount owed by the Group Related interest expense for
as at 31 March the year ended 31 March
2025 2024 2025 2024
$°000 $'000 $°000 $'000
RILMREH : Yangtzekiang Garment Group:
HEA Lease liabilities 2,811 4,225 66 295
Bk - Notes:

@i

(i)

(ii)

A THEE LB 2B N LGS RILR
ACAE ) T A S I 2 PEREIROR (E R 2 L
mRLA) > Rk PLE S5 AR SR 2
TR B 2 5 OF 362 B b 1l BRI 14A
B) o b T BRI S AATE BT B E B9 B FR
R E R g HE TR S ] -

S0 b S 4AT E 3 BT &8
S W 1 2 T 22 o o e I IR R |
LIS AATE S5 76(1) I 2 TS 2 2 1 AR
e %ﬁéﬂf@%ff@ﬁ@?iﬁ%ﬂﬁﬂ%MAﬁEM&
K o

Citimark Trading H1 Bit 7 B 56 4= A 75%
B B 515 S HE A 25% M R 25 o 1 A B Kk
W R R BR AR 0 Bl B = Z AT H 2
SRR GL > PRI b4l 58 5 R A b T R R
WAATE T E W B 3T 5y o BT LRSS
VAAF BT ML 72 1) B0 58 < T 3 o g il
[ 52 5 | — 1 -

(i)

(i)

As certain directors and their associates are collectively the controlling
shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of Yangtzekiang Garment
Group and the Group, the above transactions constitute continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are provided
in the section “Connected Transactions” in the Directors’ Report.

The related party transactions constitute continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, however,
they are exempt from the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules as they are below the de-minimis threshold under Rule
14A.76(1).

As Citimark Trading is owned as to 75% by Mr. Michael Chan and 25%
by Mr. Jason Chan. Mr. Michael Chan and Jason Chan are connected
person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules by virtue
of being a brother and nephew of three executive Directors respectively,
the above transactions constitute connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules are provided in the section “Connected
Transactions” in the Directors’ Report.

A E AR ZH = — HREAT B (c) Outstanding balances due to related companies as at 31
A FEGEERIN March 2025:
2025 2024
$’000 $'000
JARE AT R S A B B T Amounts due to Yangtzekiang
Garment Group 132 137
W B | Citimark Trading i) 7 ] 3K Receipts in advance from Citimark
Trading 195 585

S B
L]

LN T 2 A R TS AR - B
R B B R o

The outstanding balances with related companies are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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25 Company-level statement of financial position

B 2025 2024
Note $°000 $'000
F it W o Non-current assets
LUE BN & Property, plant and equipment 80 241
Wi Jag > ) M i Interests in subsidiaries 62,775 62,775
62,855 63,016
TR U/ = 7 Current assets
HC A FRE AR Other receivables 947 866
JRE S B Jag 2w ek I Amounts due from subsidiaries 343,454 366,357
4 R &% EY Cash and cash equivalents 50,538 58,775
394,939 425,998
i Bh £ 4 Current liabilities
oAt JE A5+ 3¢ Other payables 7,861 7,868
JREASE Bf o8 2 ) kI Amounts due to subsidiaries 43,968 56,271
7 A JRE A5 ol JE Current tax payable 62 37
51,891 64,176
B A Net current assets 343,048 361,822
H8 % A WO T 4 A Total assets less current liabilities 405,903 424,838
F it ) £1 4 Non-current liabilities
0 S TE LA Deferred tax liabilities 3 25
Vg ik NET ASSETS 405,900 424,813
JBe A B itk i CAPITAL AND RESERVE 22(a)
A Share capital 383,909 383,909
fat i Reserve 21,991 40,904
Bt A 7 TOTAL EQUITY 405,900 424,813

HFBREEON FE _NENH I H U

J AR HE B A o

EY e 3

25 June 2025.

Chan Wing Sun, Samuel

Chairman
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26

27

Immediate and ultimate controlling party

At 31 March 2025, the directors consider the immediate and
ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Chan Family
Investment Corporation Limited, which is incorporated in the
Cayman Islands. This entity does not provide financial statements
available for public use.

Possible impact of amendments, new standards
and interpretations issued but not yet effective for
the year ended 31 March 2025

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA
has issued a number of new or amended standards, which are not
yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2025 and which have not
been adopted in these financial statements. These developments
include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

OB R d BB A A 26
ACECHFE=ZAZF—H EERA
e Y R R A E 5§ S LY /N
£ Chan Family Investment Corporation
Limited » 7% B & BE & 5L A7« 5% 28 7]
A B A3 AT A O A BB AR o
MMy RERE F 27
“hEEZA=Z1THESE
ARz BT~ B MR Rk R
ORI R
BEAMBRETELY > FHagstms
o O Z AR A ER L E BT R
AR R ®E R HAE=ZA =1 —
H R4 BE AR IR R TR A BRI B i 3R o
PRAN o A BRAE AT SOk Y U 4 R 51 B 4R
A B 2 T -
T H =z %
B 0 % 30 A
(FGFHEN) F21 92 B3 SHE B St i s Bl
EFZH 2 BB Z i
(ke stER) HOWZ BT - 241 “ETAE-H—H
AR MB RIS
BHIA : fiE - M ITANAER
Fiapa il
(B I B t &t f) ashEflz B S
FEE-F11E
(FEMBREEN) F16% HHEH “EtE-A-H
FIE2IVE T
(i MB RN H19%% A7 m “EtE-A-H

KRREHMEA A - Bk

74 T IE TE A 0 46 T AU ] % <
TR o BR T G 55 3 BRI 2618
TR 2 AR B R R 2 B e R
TE WA BT S S > B H TR LR 2 &R A
PRAA 5% 45 9 R B A I P R I M R Y
2 .

Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in
foreign exchange rates - Lack of exchangeability

1 January 2025

Amendments to HKAS 9, Financial instruments and
HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: disclosures -
Amendments to the classification and measurement
of financial instruments

1 January 2026

Annual improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards
- Volume 11

1 January 2026

HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial
Statements

1 January 2027

HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability:
disclosures

1 January 2027

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of
initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them
is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements, except for the application of HKFRS 18 which the
presentation and disclosure of the Group’s consolidated statement
of profit or loss is expected to change.
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3P
Principal Subsidiaries
W ZEZHAE=ZH =4 —H At 31 March 2025

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group. The
class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

All of these are controlled subsidiaries as defined under note 1(d)
and have been consolidated into the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

(3 )

JBE e B8 48 Y CHEAR it iR

Place of B AT R A%

incorporation/ Particulars  Percentage
VA establishment of issued and of ownership  FEEH
Name of company and business paid up capital interest Principal activities
RILHREARAT ik 2 shares 100 MUK EE REE
YGM Marketing Limited Hong Kong Garment wholesaling and retailing
YGM Asset Management Limited Fi 2 shares 100 WERERWEME

Hong Kong Property investment and property

leasing
YGMi 5% 4 & () A IR 7 T 100,000 shares 100 HKZE
YGM Marketing (Macau) Limited Macau Garment retailing
Br L EA R F e G INIEilc RMB34,005,685 100 BEHEREEKHERTE
YGM Trading Company Limited"# The People’s Republic Investment holding, and garment
of China wholesaling and retailing

Michel René Enterprises Limited™ /& & &t & 50,000 shares 68 AT E

British Virgin Islands Garment wholesaling

and retailing

Luk Hop Garments Limited Fi 2 shares 100 MFEHRE

Hong Kong *10 shares Property investment
FWE2REARAT RS 2 shares 100 HEEK

Hong Kong Security Systems Limited Hong Kong

Investment holding
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TEMELE

Principal Subsidiaries

R ZEZLAFE=H =4 —H At 31 March 2025

(R D
J O B 4 S ok BiAiERER
Place of B AT R HA%
incorporation/ Particulars  Percentage
VP establishment of issued and  of ownership FEERE
Name of company and business paid up capital interest Principal activities
s 4 22 BV A7 R ) ik 100 shares 100 RAENR] -~ — e A I H A
Hong Kong Security Printing Limited ~ Hong Kong i AR B I
Provision of security printing, general
business printing and trading of
printing products and investment
holding
MRS R PR A ik 100,000 shares 100 WEBEK
NF Systems Holding Limited Hong Kong Investment holding
EMRGAHRA A ik 1 share 100 R KRBT E MR R B
NF Systems Limited Hong Kong Development of authentication and
electronic forgery detection solutions
Société Guy Laroche & H EUR2,925,061 100 HEA RET 6 A R A
France Trademark ownership and licensing
YGM Studio Limited ik 21,061,000 shares 100 HWEBEK
Hong Kong 46,800,000 shares Investment holding
YGM Consortium Limited ik 2 shares 100 HWEBEK
Hong Kong Investment holding
RILEEHRAA ik 2 shares 100 BEA KR RT (A
YGM Retail Limited Hong Kong Trademark ownership and licensing
ST AT B BEAT B AR 24 J 3 R R 7 sk B A > A DL 45 TR S
* 7 AR SR R A R A7 o
***  Michel René Enterprises Limited /it & ¥ #8 %% -
All the issued share capital represents ordinary shares or registered capital except where noted by:
* Represent non-voting deferred shares.
. Represent non-voting preference shares.
e Michel René Enterprises Limited operates in Taiwan.
# AT GRS A2 HIEMEA L, P30k & o
N & FAP- T NP I Al PRSP R 5 § <o
# The English translation of the companies name are for reference only. The official name of the companies are in Chinese.

# These are wholly foreign owned enterprises registered in Mainland China.
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